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1. PUBLIC ENTITY’S GENERAL INFORMATION

REGISTERED NAME:    McGregor Museum
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      Herlear
      Kimberley 
      8301
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      8300 
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FAX NUMBER:    053 842 1433

EMAIL ADDRESS:    sunet@museumsnc.co.za

WEBSITE ADDRESS:    www.museumsnc.co.za

EXTERNAL AUDITORS:                      Auditor General 

BANKERS:     Standard Bank
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VISION 
To know and conserve our past and present for the future.

MISSION
The mission of the McGregor Museum is to research and conserve the natural 
and cultural history and diversity of the Northen Cape, and promote an awareness 
thereof through service excellence.

VALUES
•	 The values of the South African Constitution

•	 The Batho Pele principles

•	 Transformation by ensuring access, redress and objectivity

•	 Accountability and transparency

•	 Service excellence

LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES
The legislative framework that guides the McGregor Museum is the Museum 
Ordinance No. 8 of 1975 and the Public Finance Management Act of 1999.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON

This submission is done in accordance with the provisions of 
the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 1 of 1999). We 
have the pleasure in laying before the Provincial Legislature 
a report of the activities of the McGregor Museum for the 
financial year that ended on 31 March 2016.

Although the museum was listed as a Provincial Public Entity 
in May 2014 already no additional funding was received 
to implement the legislative requirements of a listed entity 
which meant that the McGregor Museum has not yet become 
a fully operational entity and still receives support from its 
parent department in all Human Resource related functions. 
With further support from the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture the McGregor Museum entity hopes to become fully 
operational in the 2016/2017 financial year.

The McGregor Museum serves the whole of the greater 
Kimberley and Frances Baard communities as well as the 
rest of the Northern Cape. It caters for all segments of local 
society, across different ages, interests and linguistic groups. 
Its exhibits are diverse, ranging from natural sciences, social 
history and local cultures to archaeology. It continues to receive 
ongoing favourable media exposure.

The museum continued, despite limited resources, to fulfil 
its core functions of research, collections management and 
educational outreach. National imperatives like nation building 
and social cohesion received attention through our outreach 
programmes but these are still hampered by resource 
constraints.

The professional staff are highly productive with an impressive 
list of publications.   Some are internationally recognized in their 
respective areas of expertise and this has resulted in numerous 
international research collaborations. Amongst others, the 
Black-footed Cat research project and the Wonderwerk Cave 
research project enjoys collaboration both internationally and 
locally.

The Board continues to be concerned about the loss of 
skilled and specialist staff that has reached high levels at 
the Museum. This hampers the work of the Board as the 
Museum cannot operate according to its mandate if it lacks 
both financial and human resources. The McGregor Museum 
needs serious financial support to not only comply with the 
legislative requirements bestowed on a public entity but also to 
acquire staff with the skills and expertise necessary to drive its 
strategic plan to conserve and promote our country’s heritage. 

Our research, outreach programmes and the use of our 
various collections should be the link between ourselves and 
the communities we serve. These should be the instruments 
we use in our transformative process.  

A number of longstanding staff members retired during 
this financial year. Mr Richard Richards, groundsman at 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum, retired after 39 years at 
the museum. Our Senior State Accountant, Mr Rodney Green, 
retired after 22 years service and Mr Danny van Schalkwyk, 
messenger/driver, after 34 years at the museum.  On behalf 
of the Board and the museum staff I would like to convey my 
sincere appreciation for their hard work and selfless dedication 
to the museum. They will be sorely missed but we wish them 

all the best for the future.

I would like to acknowledge the support given to this institution 
by the MEC of Sport, Arts and Culture and its parent department, 
the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. The support of the 
Board members and museum staff is greatly appreciated. 
A word of thanks must also go to the numerous institutions, 
sponsors and donors who supported us over the past year.

Mr K. Mathews
Chairperson McGregor Museum Board
Date: 31 May 2016

MANAGER’S OVERVIEW

It is an honour to present the 2015/16 annual report of the 
McGregor Museum. Our achievements during this financial year 
are indicative of the transformation that has taken place over the 
past number of years. Museum activity in South Africa is aligned 
with the National Development Plan (NDP), as prescribed, with 
its twelve outcomes now expanded to fourteen. We are expected 
specifically to help fulfil Government Outcome 14 - “transforming 
society and uniting the country” by the achievement of equal 
opportunities, of inclusion and redress; and the promotion of 
social cohesion. We are to “honour and celebrate our collective 
heritage by promoting our diverse cultural identities” and to 
“promote our new museums and monuments and preserve 
existing ones to depict and preserve the heritage of our people.” 

Despite financial challenges the museum managed to undertake 
many significant projects. In May 2015 the McGregor Museum 
hosted Sport and Recreation South Africa’s exhibition titled: 
Sport in the Struggle: honouring the forgotten history. MEC Alvin 
Botes presented the key note address and officially opened the 
exhibition. The exhibition is a sport history project that tells the 
stories of the forgotten heroes of sport who were denied the 
opportunity to excel on national and international levels of sport 
due to Apartheid. To mark Human Rights Day 2016 an exhibition 
about the 1913 Land Act, and highlighting the theme of land 
dispossession, was opened on 17 March 2016. Prof Chitja 
Twala, Senior Lecturer at the Department of History, University 
of the Free State, delivered the keynote address.

A number of outreach projects were made possible as a result 
of collaboration with outside stakeholders, including two teas for 
members of the Galeshewe Association for the Care of the Aged 
and Disabled.

On 30 June 2015 the museum hosted a Freedom Charter 
Memorial Lecture in celebration of the 60th Anniversary of 
the Freedom Charter. Prof Yunus Ballim, vice chancellor of 
Sol Plaatje University, presented a lecture titled “The Doors 
of Learning Shall be Open” – Reflections on developments 
in access to education since 1994 and Judge Steven Majiedt 
presented a lecture titled Twenty years of constitutionalism and 
democracy through the prism of the Freedom Charter’s core 

Mr K. Mathews
Chairperson
McGregor Museum Board

Sunet Swanepoel
Acting Manager
sunet@museumsnc.co.za
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values of ‘equality before the law and equal human rights’.
 
The museum hosted two very successful Time Travel workshops 
(July and November 2015) in collaboration with Department 
of Arts and Culture and Bridging Ages International. Bridging 
Ages is an international organisation focusing on the use of 
local heritage to benefit local communities today. In the Time 
Travel method contemporary issues are connected with the 
past. It includes areas like research, storytelling, study circles, 
landscape studies, training and education. 

In February 2016 our Zoologist negotiated the donation of thirteen 
indigenous Tankwa Goats from Department of Agriculture.  Feral 
for about 80-100 years in the mountains that now form part of 
Tankwa Karoo National Park, the goats have developed their 
own unique and highly varied coat colours and hair length.

Work on a brand new walkway for Wonderwerk Cave (a national 
heritage site 40km outside Kuruman) to the value of R3 million 
commenced in January 2016. The construction is being paid for 
by the South African Heritage Resource Agency (SAHRA).

As a museum we are tasked to conserve and preserve the 
national estate for posterity and to share the knowledge gleaned 
from our various collections with those we serve. Our numerous 
collections are not only valuable to the Northern Cape but also 
to the rest of the country and the world. This can be attested to 
by the many national and international researchers that came to 
the museum in this financial year. 

Through partnerships with various national and international 
institutions the museum continued with a number of important 
research projects. Our archaeology and zoology departments 
have some longstanding collaborative research agreements 
with overseas partners including work revolving around the 
archaeological sites of Kathu and Wonderwerk Cave, co-
ordinated by Michael Chazan from Toronto University in Canada 
and research into the Black-footed Cat, in collaboration with 
Wuppertal Zoo and Cologne Zoo in Germany. Our history 
department has consistently been involved with community 
outreach programmes and relevant historical events which have 
resulted in temporary as well as permanent exhibitions. In all our 
exhibitions and publications we have been well-supported by a 
willing and highly skilled art department. 

Our collections, even though hamstrung by a lack of professional 
conservators, are receiving attention. The situation is far from 
ideal but the few dedicated staff members truly exert themselves 
to maintain the collections as best they can. To really do justice 
to the national estate professional conservator posts need to 
be filled with extreme urgency. Some of our collections have 
also remained static for the reasons mentioned above and also 
because of a lack of researchers. The dwindling budget and 
lack of professional staff also need to be addressed. Two critical 
disciplines for our province, anthropology and botany, have 
been severely affected through the resignation of researchers, 
and the subsequent defunding of their posts.

Lack of adequate funding remains one of the major problems 
that the McGregor Museum is facing. If not addressed soon it will 
result in the loss of the few remaining professional staff and this 
could cause serious problems in the Museum’s ability to carry 
out its mandate. It will also impact negatively on the Museum’s 
ability to comply with the Public Finance Management Act and 
the implementation of sound corporate governance.

When Prof. Dr Hans-Martin Hinz, President of the International 
Council of Museums (ICOM), introduced the 2015 theme for 
International Museums Day, he urged that “Museums must be 
able to guarantee their role in safeguarding cultural heritage.” 
In the closing weeks of the year under review, the museum was 

called upon to do exactly that, when the museum through the 
dedication of Dr David Morris, and in collaboration with Wits and 
Sol Plaatje Universities, worked around the clock obtaining an 
urgent interdict to halt destruction by mining of Canteen Kopje, 
an archaeological site of world importance, outside Barkly West.
I would like to congratulate Dr David Morris who this year was 
honoured with an appointment as Extraordinary Professor by the 
Sol Plaatje University. Dr Morris provides regular lectures and 
excursions to sites for both their one-year Heritage Certificate 
course and a BA with Heritage as major. I would also like to 
congratulate Ms Beryl Wilson who successfully completed her 
MTech degree in Nature Conservation.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Two Audit Committee meetings were held on 23 May 2016 and 
26 of July 2016 where the entity’s draft Annual Report and AFS 
were reviewed as well as the final management audit report.

The establishment of the Internal Audit and Audit Committee will 
strengthen good governance within the entity. 

In conclusion I would like to thank the MEC for Sport, Arts 
and Culture, the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, the 
McGregor Museum Board of Trustees and my colleagues for 
their continued commitment and support. 

Sunet Swanepoel
Acting Manager 
Date: 25 August 2016
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION

Statement of Responsibility for Performance Information 
for the year ended 31 March 2016

The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 1999, (Act No. 
1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Board to ensure that the 
McGregor Museum keeps full and proper records of its financial 
affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly present the 
state of affairs of the museum, its financial results, its performance 
against predetermined objectives and its financial position at the 
end of the year in terms of the prescribed Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Board. The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) is 
responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 
financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practices, including any interpretation of such statements issued 
by the Accounting Standards Board. These annual financial 
statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements.

The Board has reviewed the McGregor Museum’s budget and 
cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2016. On the 
basis of this review, and in view of the current financial position, 
the Board has every reason to believe that it will be a going 
concern in the year ahead. 

The Board sets standards to enable management to meet the 
above responsibilities by implementing systems of internal 
control and risk management, where possible, that are designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement and losses. The museum maintains 
internal financial controls to provide assurance against 
unauthorised use of assets and maintains proper accounting 
records.

In the opinion of the Board, based on the information available to 
date, the annual financial statements fairly present the financial 
position of the McGregor Museum at 31 March 2016.

Sunet Swanepoel
Acting Manager
Date: 31 May 2016

AUDITOR’S REPORT:  
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
The entity-specific legislation does not require the reporting on 
performance against predetermined objectives. 

OVERVIEW OF PUBLIC ENTITY’S 
PERFORMANCE
   3.1.   Service Delivery Environment

Museum activity in South Africa is aligned with the National 
Development Plan (NDP). We are expected specifically to help 
fulfill Government Outcome 14 - “transforming society and 
uniting the country” by the achievement of equal opportunities, 
of inclusion and redress; and the promotion of social cohesion. 
We are to “honour and celebrate our collective heritage by 
promoting our diverse cultural identities” and to “promote our new 
museums and monuments and preserve existing ones to depict 
and preserve the heritage of our people.” We therefore seek, in all 
our activities, to ensure museums are accessible, and to connect 
with as many people as possible in the Northern Cape and South 
Africa so that their lives can be enriched and they can benefit from 
our rich heritage.

The McGregor Museum is presently the only multi-disciplinary 
research institution in the Northern Cape. Its core functions, 
research, conservation and outreach are hampered as a result 
of human and financial constraints. Even with these constraints 
the museum has had some major successes such as the 
development of new displays and being able to bring to the 
province major national travelling exhibitions. The maintenance 
of museum infrastructure is a serious challenge as a number of 
museum buildings date to the Victorian period and are expensive 
to maintain. All these buildings form part of the tourism fabric 
of Kimberley and the Northern Cape and therefore cannot be 
allowed to deteriorate.

The McGregor Museum delivers services in its specialist 
disciplines which promote a greater awareness and appreciation 
of South Africa’s diverse cultural and natural heritage. Efforts to 
maintain collections at the highest possible standards, despite of 
challenges due to inappropriate and inadequate storage facilities, 
will continue. Ongoing research as well as new research, 
particularly that involving oral history, will enable the museum 
to contribute to the promotion of heritage and to address the 
challenges facing biodiversity. Research further serves as a 
vehicle by which heritage collections and the treasures contained 
therein are unlocked and made accessible and relevant to all 
people, through topical exhibitions, displays and educational and 
outreach programmes.

With nine sites under its management, the McGregor Museum 
further plays a key role as a major regional tourism resource. 

   3.2.   Organisational Environment

The McGregor Museum is a Natural and Cultural History Museum 
that performs its conservation, research and educational functions 
in a broad spectrum of disciplines in the Natural and Human 
Sciences. 
In May 2014 (back dated to April) The Minister of Finance 

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
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approved the listing of the McGregor Museum as a provincial 
public entity. 

The museum currently has 43 permanent staff members as 
opposed to the 63 approved posts. It is currently staffed by 
employees seconded from the Northern Cape Department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture as well as by employees appointed by 
the Board of Trustees on a contract or casual worker basis. The 
current meagre budget and the numerous vacant posts makes 
it difficult for the museum to comply with various Public Finance 
Management and Treasury Regulation prescripts and  hampers 
the institution in fully achieving its strategic goals. The lack of 
staff, especially front desk and cleaning staff, has forced museum 
management to close certain museums and open only upon 
request. This situation leads to much frustration from tourists and 
tour guides. 

Lack of adequate funding remains one of the major problems 
that the McGregor Museum is facing. If not addressed soon it will 
result in the loss of the few remaining professional staff and this 
could cause serious problems in the Museum’s ability to carry 

out its mandate. It will also impact negatively on the Museum’s 
ability to comply with the PFMA and the implementation of sound 
corporate governance.

The museum is very excited about the prospect of more trained 
museum professionals becoming available for the Northern Cape 
and South Africa with the introduction of museum studies as a 
discipline at the Sol Plaatje University in Kimberley. The current 
critical shortage of professional staff hinders the important role 
the museum could and should play in assisting with the practical 
training and lecturing of students. 

   3.3.   Key Policy Developments and Legislative Changes

Currently most policies adopted at our parent department 
are implemented at the entity but the entity is in the process 
of developing its own policies. To this end the Museum Board 
approved three new policies in this financial year: Guidelines on 
Policy development; Supply Chain Management policy and the 
Contract Research policy. 

   3.4.   Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals

Strategic Outcome
Oriented Goal 1

Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience development.

Goal Statement
To increase access to the museum’s collections in the fields of natural and cultural his-
tory through diverse and engaging educational programmes and exhibitions.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 2 Collections and Research: Development and preservation of collections as a lasting 
national resource reflecting our South African Heritage

Goal Statement To manage the collections to the highest standard, to enable growth and research that 
generates new knowledge and insights about natural and cultural history.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 3 To provide an efficient and effective administration and support function.
Goal Statement To provide strategic direction for the Entity as well as effective and efficient human 

resource management, financial management and general support services to ensure 
organisational efficiency and good governance.

   4.   PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME

Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Strategic objectives

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Programme One: Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience development

Performance
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2014/2015

Planned 
Target 

2015/2016

Actual 
Achievements 

2015/2016

Deviation from 
planned 

target to actual 
Achievement for 

2015/2016

Comment on deviations

Number of people 
visiting the facilities.

15 512 15 550 17 305 1 755

It is very difficult to estimate 
visitor numbers accurately. The 
estimated visitor number was 
exceeded by 1755, This was 
mainly as a result of better track-
ing of visitors to satellite muse-
ums as well as positive publicity 
received in the media.

Number of outreach 
p r o g r a m m e s 
implemented. 13 10 27 17

More outreach programmes 
could be done on request 
through collaboration with other 
stakeholders and at very little 

cost.
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Programme One: Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience development

Performance
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2014/2015

Planned 
Target 

2015/2016

Actual 
Achievements 

2015/2016

Deviation from 
planned 

target to actual 
Achievement for 

2015/2016

Comment on deviations

Number of brochures & 
publications distributed. 4 4 4 0

Number of new 
permanent / temporary 
exhibitions.

4 3 3 0

% of tours of exhibitions 
and collections by 
curators and collection 
managers

0 100% 100% 0

Number of exhibitions 
maintained 0 3 3 0

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

No under performance

Changes to planned targets

No changes were made. 

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Programme Two: Collection and Research Development

Performance
Indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2014/2015

Planned 
Target 

2015/2016

Actual 
Achievements 

2015/2016

Deviation from 
planned 

target to actual 
Achievement for 

2015/2016

Comment on deviations

Number of collections 
maintained 5 5 5 0

% of collections-related 
queries answered 0 100% 100% 0

%  of researchers 
hosted 0 100% 100% 0

Number of collections 
digitized 0 5 4 1 Capacity constraints resulted in 

digitization of only 4 collections.
% of cultural research 
management projects/ 
impact assessments 
completed

0 75% 75% 0

Number of peer-re-
viewed research 
publications

0 2 3 1
It is difficult to predict in what 
year a peer-reviewed article will 

be approved and published.
Number of other 
research publications 0 6 6 0

Number of externally 
funded research 
projects

0 4 4 0

% of queries answered 0 100% 100% 0
Number of collaborative 
research projects 0 2 2 0

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

The museum entity is experiencing staff shortages in specialised fields which affect its optimal functioning. Additional training for 
current staff is planned to improve current skills.

Changes to planned targets

No changes were made. 
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Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Programme Three: To provide and efficient and effective administration and support function

Performance 
indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2014/2015

Planned 
Target 2015/2016

Actual 
Achievements 

2015/2016

Deviation from 
planned 

target to actual 
Achievement

Comment on 
deviations

Number of vacant 
funded posts 
activated for filling

0 1 4 3

The three additional 
posts filled were 
from vacancies from 
2014/15 year only filled 
by parent department 
in 2015/16.

% of EPMDS 
completed and 
submitted to HR

100% 100% 100% 0

% of PDPs com-
pleted and 
submitted to HR

100% 100% 100% 0

Number of financial 
policies and proce-
dures developed 
and reviewed

0 1 1 0

Compile finance 
quarterly reports 
within 30 days 
after the end of the 
quarter

0 4 0 4

Capacity constraints in 
the museum’s Finance 
section hampered com-
pliance in this regard. 
The State Accountant 
(only permanent em-
ployee in the entity’s 
finance section) retired 
at the end of October 
2015 without having 
been able to finalise 
the quarterly expendi-
ture reports.

% expenditure 
achieved as 
planned per quarter

100% 100% 100% 0

Develop and imple-
ment internal audit 
plan 0 1 0 1

Critical staff constraints 
in administration 
resulted in target not 
being met.

Develop, imple-
ment  and review 
a comprehensive 
maintenance 
programme for 
museum sites

0 1 1 0

% of general main-
tenance requests 
attended to

0 100% 100% 0

Develop, imple-
ment and review 
risk management 
policy and risk 
register 0 1 1 0

The museum’s risk 
register was com-
pleted in October 2015 
with assistance from 
Provincial Treasury. 
A risk management 
policy still needs to be 
developed.

Implement and 
review disaster 
management and 
emergency 
\procedure

0 1 0 1
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Programme Three: To provide and efficient and effective administration and support function

Performance 
indicator

Actual 
Achievements 

2014/2015

Planned 
Target 2015/2016

Actual 
Achievements 

2015/2016

Deviation from 
planned 

target to actual 
Achievement

Comment on 
deviations

Number of elec-
tronic systems 
maintained

0 4 4 0

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

An accounting service was appointed in January 2016 to manage the entity’s finances going forward which should resolve the 
problem of quarterly financial reporting in 2016/17. The vacant posts of Assistant Manager: assets, transport and maintenance and 
Senior State Accountant will be filled in the new financial year.

The setting up of a fully functional Finance and Human Resources Shared Entity Service by the Department Sport, Arts and Culture 
will further strengthen the administrative component of the entity.

Changes to planned targets

No changes were made. 

Linking performance with budgets
                        2015/2016                                                                                   2014/2015
Sub-programme 

Name
Budget Actual 

Expenditure
(Over) /Under Ex-

penditure
Budget Actual 

Expenditure
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

Expenditure from 
Provincial subsidy 3194 3133 61 2953 2999 -46

Expenditure from 
own revenue 
sources

1961 1433 528 528 574 -46

Total 5155 4566 589 3481 3573 -92

5.   SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
    5.1.   Revenue Collection
                                                      2015/2016                                                          2014/2015  

Budget Actual (Under)/ 
Over Budget Actual (Under)/ Over

Donations 162 76 (86) 27 70 43
Sale of goods and ren-
dering services 592 670 78 293 307 14

Rental of facilities and 
equipment 188 161 (27) 190 193 3

Investment Income 81 89 8 100 83 -17
Proceeds of
 insurance claims - 17 17 21 31 10

Transfer payment 2953 3133 180 2953 2953 0
Total 3976 4146 170 3584 3637 53

5.2   Programme Expenditure
                                                     2015/2016                                                         2014/2015

Budget Actual (Under)/ Over Budget Actual (Under)/ Over
Employee costs 1004 678 (326) 891 854 37
Repairs and 
maintenance 399 290 (109) 241 290 -49

Contracted ser-
vices - - - 0 0 0

Grants paid 90 70 (20) 87 87 0
General 
expenses 2884 2898 14 2122 2202 -80

Total 4729 4588 (141) 3481 3573 -92
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                                                     2015/2016                                                         2014/2015
Budget Actual (Under)/ Over Budget Actual (Under)/ Over

Finance Costs 24 11 (13) 14 14 0
Equipment 328 618 290 126 126 0
Impairment loss - 23 23 0 0 0
Total 4729 4588 (141) 3481 3573 -92
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Composition of the Board

Name

Designa-tion 
(in terms of 
the Public 

Entity Board 
structure)

Date 
appointed

Date 
resigned

Qualifica-
tions

Area of 
Expertise

Board Directorships 
(List the entities)

Other 
Com-

mittees 
(e.g. 
Audit 

Commit-
tees)

No. of 
meet-
ings 

attend-
ed

Mr K. Mathews Chairperson 15/10/11 MEC 
Appointee 3

Mr D. Allen Member 15/10/11 n/a B. ScQs Quantity 
Surveyor Boktea n/a 3

Mr B. Maribe Member 01/02/12 n/a Councillor 3

Ms M. Moloi Member 01/02/12 n/a Executive 
Mayor 0

Ms J. Ntwane Member 15/10/11 n/a

MEC 
Appointee 
Heritage 
consultant

1

Mr S. 
Setlogelo Member 15/10/11 n/a

B.A. degree
Master of 

Management

MEC 
Appointee n/a n/a 2

Mr T. Thobeli Member 15/10/11 n/a
B.A. degree

in Social 
Science

MEC 
Appointee 1

Mr C. Fortune Member 20/5/15 n/a M.A (History)

Friends 
of the 
Museum 
appointee

• N.C Tourism Authority 
(Chairman)

• Africana Trust (Mem-
ber)

• Sol Plaatjie Educa-
tional Trust (Member)

• St Cyprian’s Gram-
mer School Board of 
Governors (Member)

2

1

Committees
Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members
EXCO 0 6 Mr K. Mathews

Mr D. Allen
Ms J. Ntwane
Mr S. Setlogelo
Mr T. Thobeli
Mr C. Fortune

1 Replaced Mr R. Bruce (deceased) as representative of the Friends of the Museum

1

1 

1. INTRODUCTION

The McGregor Museum Board recognises good governance and 
compliance practices are crucial for the continued development 
of the McGregor Museum and is committed to instilling it in all its 
operations.

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES

The McGregor Museum appears before the Portfolio Committee 
for Education, Sport, Arts and Culture.

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

The McGregor Museum is included in the Annual Reports, Stra-
tegic Plans and Annual Performance Plans of the Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture. Performance information is therefore 
submitted to the Department on a quarterly basis. Every attempt 
is made to comply with legislation, regulations and prescripts. It 
should however be understood that a small entity such as this 
has to comply with the same legislative requirements as those 
receiving very generous allocations from government. The hu-

man resources and financial constraints we experience make it 
very difficult to comply.

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD

Introduction

The Board is the accounting authority and is answerable to the 
MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture. It has financial oversight in all 
matters regarding the running of the entity. It has to oversee the 
strategic direction and objectives of the entity as received from 
the MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture.

The role of the Board is as follows:

• Hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and immovable 
property of whatever kind;

• Receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, co 
lections or other movable property placed under care and 
management;

• Keep a record of the property of the institution.
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REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD

Members do not receive any remuneration as this is not provided 
for in Museum Ordinance No. 8 of 1975.

5.   RISK MANAGEMENT

The museum’s risk register was completed in October 2015 with 
assistance from Provincial Treasury. Serious capacity constraints 
in Finance and Administration currently limit the actions taken to 
mitigate risks.

6.   INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

The entity is unable to put in place an internal audit control unit 
as the finance section comprises one official with no assistance. 

7.   INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES

No internal auditing is done as there is no internal audit commit-
tee.

8.     COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999), 
as amended, requires the Board to ensure that the McGregor 
Museum keeps full and proper records of its financial affairs. The 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Prac-
tices. These annual financial statements are based on appropri-
ate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates.  

9.     FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The entity in this financial year still adhered to the fraud and cor-
ruption policy of the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. No 
incidents of fraud or corruption occurred during the year under 
review.

10.   MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Service providers used are vetted and none are used that have 
any affiliation to staff.

11.   CODE OF CONDUCT

The entity in this financial year still adhered to the Department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture’s code of conduct. 

12.   HEALTH SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Health and Safety issues are dealt with by our parent depart-
ment, the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

13.   COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY

 The Board does not employ a secretary.

14.   SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Social responsibility matters form part of our mandate and are 
addressed through our outreach and educational programmes.

15.   AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

No Audit Committee was appointed.

        The Effectiveness of Internal Control

All financial transactions are approved by management and two 

signatories are required, one being a manager and the other a 
Board member. No material payments are made from cash. Req-
uisitions for S & Ts are approved by senior officials (Acting Man-
ager, Assistant Manager and Chief Finance Officer) before being 
paid out. Bank reconciliations are performed and reviewed.

        In-year Management of Monthly/Quarterly Report

Quarterly performance reports were submitted to the parent de-
partment but due to serious capacity constraints in Finance and 
Administration the entity did not comply with In-year monthly/
quarterly reporting. 
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Personnel Cost of Contract and Casual Staff

Personnel cost by salary band

Personnel cost by salary band still resides with the parent department.

Performance Rewards

Performance rewards still reside with the parent department.

Training Costs

Training of personnel still resides with the parent department.

Employment and vacancies

The filling, or not filling of posts, still resides with the parent department. 
Programme 2014/2015 

No. of Employees
2015/2016

Approved Posts
2015/2016

No. of Employees
2015/2016 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Top Management 0 1 0 1 100
Senior Management 1 3 0 3 100
Professional qualified 7 11 6 5 45
Skilled 10 14 11 3 21
Semi-skilled 6 17 12 5 29
Unskilled 7 17 15 2 12
TOTAL 31 63 44 16 30%

Employment changes

Salary Band Employment at begin-
ning of period Appointments Terminations Employment at end of 

period
Top Management 0 0 0 0
Senior Management 1 0 1 0
Professional qualified 7 0 1 6
Skilled 10 1 0 11
Semi-skilled 6 6 0 12
Unskilled 7 10 2 15
TOTAL 31 17 4 44

1.   INTRODUCTION

The majority of employees are state employees receiving their 
remuneration from the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. All 
HR matters are currently still being referred to the parent depart-
ment. Posts are filled, or not filled, at the discretion of the Depart-
ment. All staff performance and wellness matters are dealt with 
by the parent department.

2.   HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

The entity’s staff complement (as reflected below) is seconded 
from its parent department, viz. the Department of Sport, Arts 
and Culture. The cost thereof is reflected in the Annual Report of 
the parent department.

Due to staff shortages the entity is compelled to employ contract 
workers to supplement its workforce. This problem was greatly 
alleviated when our parent department absorbed 15 of the mu-
seum’s contract and casual staff on a permanent basis from  
1 October 2015.

Programme 
Contract and 

Casual Personnel

Total 
Expenditure for 

the entity (R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel exp. As 
a % of total exp. 

(R’000)

No. of employees Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)
44 000 678 15.41% 23 29
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Reasons for staff leaving
Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 0
Resignation 0
Dismissal 0
Retirement 4
Ill health 0
Expiry of contract 0
Other
TOTAL 4

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary action Number

Verbal Warning 0
Written Warning 6
Final Warning 0
Dismissal 0

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status
Levels MALE

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management
Senior Management
Professional Qualified 1 1
Skilled 4 1
Semi-skilled 4 3
Unskilled 3 6
TOTAL 11 9 2

Levels MALE
African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management
Senior Management
Professional Qualified 4
Skilled 2 2 2
Semi-skilled 4 1
Unskilled 4 2
TOTAL 6 8 7

Levels DISABLED STAFF
African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management
Senior Management
Professional Qualified

Skilled

Semi-skilled

Unskilled

TOTAL 0 0 0 0
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Office of the Auditor General South Africa 
Chartered Accountants (S.A.) Registered 

Auditors 
 
 
 
 

These financial statements have been audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999. 

 
Published 31 May 2016 
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The reports and statements set out below comprise the financial statements presented to the Provincial Legislature: 

Index Page  

General Information 24  

Report of the Auditor-General 25  

Members' Responsibilities and Approval 31 

Members' Report 32 - 33 

Statement of Financial Position 34 

Statement of Financial Performance 35 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 36 

Cash Flow Statement 37 

Accounting Policies 38 - 58 

Notes to the Financial Statements 59 - 73 

The following supplementary information does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited: 

Supplementary Information 74 - 75 
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McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

General Information 

23 

 

 

 

 
Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa 

 
Legal form of entity Public Entity established in terms of the Cape Museum Ordinance No. 

8 of 1975. The entity is a non - profit entity and is focused on service 
delivery in the Northern Cape Province. The entity is listed in the 
PFMA as a Schedule 3C, Public Entity. 

 
Nature of business and principal activities To research and conserve the natural and cultural history and diversity 

of the Northern Cape Province and promote an awareness thereof 
through service excellence. 

 
Board Members K Mathews (Chairperson) 

D Allen 
B Maribe 
M Moloi 
J Ntwane 
M Setlogelo 
T Thobeli 
C Fortune 

 
Business address 2 Egerton Road 

Belgravia 
KIMBERLEY 
8301 

 
Postal address PO Box 316 

KIMBERLEY 
8300 

 
Executive authority MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

 
Bankers Standard Bank of South Africa 

 
Auditors Office of the Auditor General South Africa 

Chartered Accountants (S.A.) 
Registered Auditors 

 
Chief Executive Officer S Swanepoel (Acting) 

 
Chief Financial Officer Z Cader (Seconded Department of Sport, Arts and Culture) 

 
Level of assurance These financial statements have been audited in compliance with the 

applicable requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 
1999. 

 
Published 31 May 2016 

 
Relevant legislation Cape Museums Ordinance No. 8 of 1975 

Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 
Public Service Act No. 103 of 1994 
National Heritage Resources Act No. 25 of 1999 
National Archives Act No. 43 of 1996 
National Environment Act No. 107 of 1998 
National Environmental Biodiversity Act No. 2 of 2000 
Promotion of Access to Information Act No. 2 of 2000 
Copyright Act No. 78 of 1978 
Firearms Control Amendment Act No. 43 of 2003 
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Report of the auditor-general to Northern Cape 
Provincial Legislature on McGregor Museum 

 
 

Report on the financial statements 
 
 
Introduction 

 
1.  I have audited the financial statements of the McGregor Museum set out on pages 31 to 

73, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, the statement 
of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, and cash flow statement for 
the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

 
 
Accounting  authority's responsibility for the financial  statements 

 
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 

financial statements in accordance with the South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practise (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for 
such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

 
 
Auditor-general's responsibility 

 
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

 
4.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
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well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my qualified audit opinion. 

 
 

Basis for qualified opinion 
 
 

Heritage  Assets 
 

6. The public entity did not recognise all items of heritage assets in accordance with GRAP 
103 Heritage Assets. As the museum did not maintain adequate records of the heritage 
assets fair values at date of acquisition, I was not able to determine the full extent of the 
understatement of heritage assets as it was impracticable to do so. 

 
 
Qualified opinion 

 
7.  In my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified 

opinion paragraphs, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,the 
financial position of the McGregor Museum as at 31 March 2016 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the SA Standards 
of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA. 

 
 
Emphasis of matter 

 
8.   I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter 

matters. 
 

Restatement of corresponding figures 
 
9.  As disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 

2015 have been restated as a result of an error discovered during the year ended 31 March 
2016 in the financial statements of the McGregor Museum at, and for the year ended, 
31 March 2015. 

 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 
 

10.  In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report findings on the 
reported performance information against predetermined objectives of selected 
programmes presented in the annual performance report, compliance with legislation and 
internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters. 
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Predetermined objectives 
 

11. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information of the following selected programmes presented in the 
annual performance report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 2016: 

 
•  Programme 1: Enhancing the museum experience: access and audience development 

on pages 11 to 12. 
 

• Programme 2: Collection and research development on pages 12. 
 

12. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it 
was presented in accordance with the National Treasury's annual reporting principles and 
whether the reported performance was consistent with the planned programmes. I further 
performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, 
specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury's 
Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI). 

 
13.  I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it 

was valid, accurate and complete. 
 
 

14. The material findings in respect of the selected programmes are as follows: 
 
Programme 1: Enhancing the museum experience: access and 
audience development 

 
 

Usefulness of reported performance information 
 
 

15. Treasury Regulation 30.1.3(g) requires the annual performance plan to form the basis for 
the annual report, therefore requiring consistency of objectives, indicators and targets 
between planning and reporting documents.  A total of 100% approved objectives per the 
annual performance plan were not consistent to reported objectives. 

 
 
16. The processes and systems that produced the indicator should be verifiable, as required by 

the FMPPI.  A total of 33% indicators were not verifiable. 
 
 
Reliability of reported performance information 

 
 
17. The FMPPI requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and 

store performance information to ensure reliable reporting of actual achievements against 
planned objectives, indicators and targets. For 50% indicators, the reported achievements 
against planned targets were not reliable because I was unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence for these targets. In addition, the reported achievements against 
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planned targets for 16% of indicators were not reliable when compared to the source 
information. 

 
 

Programme 2: Collection and research development 
 
 

Usefulness of reported performance information 
 
 

18. Treasury Regulation 30.1.3(g) requires the annual performance plan to form the basis for 
the annual report, therefore requiring consistency of objectives, indicators and targets 
between planning and reporting documents. A total of 100% approved objectives per the 
annual performance plan were not consistent to reported objectives. 

 
 

19. The processes and systems that produced the indicator should be verifiable, as required by 
the FMPPI.  A total of 40% indicators were not verifiable. 

 
 

Reliability of reported performance information 
 
 

20. The FMPPI requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and 
store performance information to ensure reliable reporting of actual achievements against 
planned objectives, indicators and targets. Adequate and reliable corroborating evidence 
could not be provided for the reported achievements against planned targets of 40% of 
indicators. 

 
 
Additional matters 

 
21. I draw attention to the following matters: 

 
 
Achievement of planned targets 

 
22. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 11 to 12 for information on the 

achievement of the planned targets for the year. This information should be considered in 
the context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in paragraphs 15 to 20 of this report. 

 
 
Unaudited supplementary information 

 
23. The supplementary information set out on pages 74 to 95 does not form part of the 

annual performance report and is presented as additional information. I have not audited 
these schedules and, accordingly, I do not report on them. 
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Compliance with legislation 
 

24. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity had complied with applicable 
legislation regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. My 
material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the PAA, are as follows: 

 
Financial statements, performance and annual reports 

 
25. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the 

prescribed financial reporting framework as required by section 55(1) (a) and (b) of the 
Public Finance  Management Act. Material misstatements of disclosure items identified by 
the auditors in the submitted financial statements were subsequently corrected, but the 
uncorrected material misstatements resulted in the financial statements receiving a qualified 
audit opinion. 

 
Procurement and contract management 

 
26. Quotations were awarded to bidders who did not submit a declaration on whether they are 

employed by the state or connected to any person employed by the state, which is 
prescribed in order to comply with Treasury regulation 16A8.3. 

 
Expenditure 

 
27. Effective steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure, amounting to R256 640 in 

note 30 of the AFS, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii)of the Public Finance Management 
Act and Treasury Regulation 9.1.1. 

 
Revenue 

 
28. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to collect all money due, as required by 

section 51(1)(b)(i) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulations 
31.1.2(a) and (e). 

 
Consequences management 

 
29.  Disciplinary steps were not taken against officials who made or permitted irregular 

expenditure, as required by section 51(1)(e)(iii) of the Public Finance Management Act and 
Treasury Regulation 9.1.3. 
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Internal control 
 

30. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual 
performance report and compliance with legislation. The matters reported below are limited 
to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the basis for qualified opinion, 
the findings on the annual performance report and the findings on compliance with 
legislation included in this report. 

 
Leadership 

 
31.  The leadership has not been effective due to material misstatement in the financial 

statements, non-compliance with laws and regulations and findings on predetermined 
objectives. 

 
32. Human resource management was not effective to ensure that vacancies are filled within a 

reasonable timeframe as posts are filled, or not filled at the discretion of the parent 
department, Sport, Arts and Culture, taking note that the entity's payroll currently still 
resides at DSAC and all HR matters are still performed by them. 

 
33. The entity did not have documented and approved internal policies and procedures to 

address the process of collecting and processing of performance information.  This resulted 
in misstatements on predetermined objectives. 

 
 
Governance 

 
34. The museum did not have an internal audit function and audit committee during the 

financial year. This resulted in ineffective oversight as the audit committee did not fulfil their 
responsibilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kimberley 
 

29 July 2016 
 

 
 

AU D IT OR  - G E  N E   R   A  L 

S   O UTH AFRI CA 

 
Auditing to build public confidence 
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Members' Responsibilities and Approval 

 

 

 

 
The members are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this 
report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements and was given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

 
The financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates. 

 
The members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members to meet these 
responsibilities, the members sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is 
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

 
The members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control  provides  reasonable  assurance  that  the  financial  records  may  be  relied  on  for  the  preparation  of  the  financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or deficit. 

 
The members have reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2017 and, in the light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the entity has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

 
The  entity  is  wholly  dependent  on  the  Northern  Cape  Department  of  Sport,  Arts  and  Culture  for  continued  funding  of 
operations. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
Although the members are primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, they are supported by the entity's external 
auditors. 

 
The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity's financial statements. The 
financial statements have been examined by the entity's external auditors and their report is presented on page 34. 

 
The financial statements set out on pages 34 to 73, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the members on 31 May 2016 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

K Mathews 
Board: Chairperson 



32

McGREGOR MUSEUM | ANNUAL REPORT | 2015-2016

26 

McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Members' Report 

 

 

 

 
The members submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2016. 

 
1.     Review of activities 

 
Main business and operations 

 
The entity is engaged  to research and conserve the natural and cultural history and diversity of the Northern Cape Province 
and promote an awareness thereof through service excellence and operates principally in South Africa. 

 
The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out in the attached financial statements and do not in our 
opinion require any further comment. 

 
Net surplus of the entity was R 309,983 (2015: deficit R 370,186). 

 
2.     Going concern 

 
We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2016, the entity had accumulated surplus of R 5,276,922 and that the entity's 
total assets exceed its liabilities by R 5,276,922. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

 
The  entity  is  wholly  dependent  on  the  Northern  Cape  Department  of  Sport,  Arts  and  Culture  for  continued  funding  of 
operations. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
3.     Subsequent events 

 
The members are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year. 

 
4.     Accounting policies 

 
The following Standards on Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) have been issued but is not yet effective, the 
entity did not early adopt this Standards. 

 
GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor, issued August 2013; 
GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables, issued September 2013; 
GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents; and 
IGRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements where a Grantor controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset. 

 
All the standards as listed above will only be effective for financial years starting on or after 01 April 2016, as announced by the 
Minister of Finance. 

 
Standards of GRAP effective from 01 April 2015: 
The following GRAP standards became effective during the reporting period, the effectiveness of these standards did not have 
any impact on the financial statements of the entity. 

 
GRAP 18: Segment Reporting; 
GRAP 105: Transfer of functions between entities under common control; 
GRAP 106: Transfer of functions between entities not under common control; and 
GRAP 107: Mergers. 
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Members' Report 

 

 

 

 
5. Members 

 
The members of the entity during the year and to the date of this report are as follows: 
Name 
K Mathews (Chairperson) 
D Allen 
B Maribe 
M Moloi 
J Ntwane 
M Setlogelo 
T Thobeli 
C Fortune 

 
6. Chief executive officer 

 
The acting chief executive officer at the date of this report is S Swanepoel. 

 
7. Executive authority 

 
The executive authority is the MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

 
8. Auditors 

 
Office of the Auditor General South Africa will continue in office for the next financial period. 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2016 
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2016 2015 

 

 

 

 
Assets 

 
Current Assets 

 

Other financial assets 6 16,965 52,985 
Receivables from exchange transactions 7 145,852 206,676 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,672,716 2,435,215 

  2,835,533 2,694,876 
 
Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 

 
 

3 

 
 

2,835,326 

 
 

2,776,968 
Intangible assets 4 16,926 5,871 
Heritage assets 5 2 2 
Other financial assets 6 - 6,590 

  2,852,254 2,789,431 
Total Assets  5,687,787 5,484,307 

 
Liabilities    

Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation 

 
9 

 
39,963 

 
36,720 

Payables from exchange transactions 11 260,413 257,345 
Taxes and transfers payable (non-exchange) 12 42,280 - 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 10 13,250 128,382 

  355,906 422,447 
 
Non-Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation 

 
 

9 

 
 

54,959 

 
 

94,921 
Total Liabilities  410,865 517,368 
Net Assets  5,276,922 4,966,939 

Accumulated surplus  5,276,922 4,966,939 
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Statement of Financial Performance 
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2016 2015 

 

 

 

 
Revenue 

 
Revenue from exchange transactions 

 

Sale of goods and rendering of services  670,199 563,197 
Rental of facilities and equipment  160,955 192,680 
Discount received  573 - 
Insurance claim received  16,565 30,685 
Interest received  89,164 83,465 
Total revenue from exchange transactions  937,456 870,027 

 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions    

Transfer revenue    
Government grants & subsidies  3,372,844 3,014,675 
Public contributions and donations  75,702 248,230 
Conditional grant income  252,852 330,454 
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions  3,701,398 3,593,359 
Total revenue 14 4,638,854 4,463,386 

 
Expenditure 
Personnel 

 
 

18 

 
 

(678,196) 

 
 

(1,177,787) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (446,155) (483,856) 
Impairment loss 19 (7,543) (7,447) 
Finance costs 20 (10,599) (13,331) 
Repairs and maintenance  (289,750) (328,021) 
Grants and subsidies paid  (70,300) (87,000) 
General Expenses 17 (2,898,237) (2,743,206) 

Total expenditure  (4,400,780) (4,840,648) 
Operating surplus (deficit)  238,074 (377,262) 
Gain on disposal of assets and liabilities  71,909 7,076 

Surplus (deficit) for the year   

309,983 
 

(370,186) 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

 

 

 

 
Figures in Rand 

 

Accumulated 
surplus 

 

Total net 
assets 

 
Opening balance as previously reported 5,333,840 5,333,840 
Adjustments 
Prior year adjustments 3,285 3,285 
Balance at 01 April 2014 as restated* 5,337,125 5,337,125 
Changes in net assets 
Deficit for the year (Restated) (370,186) (370,186) 
Total changes (370,186) (370,186) 

 

Balance at 01 April 2015 4,966,939 4,966,939 
Changes in net assets 
Surplus for the year 309,983 309,983 
Total changes 309,983 309,983 
Balance at 31 March 2016 5,276,922 5,276,922 

 

Note(s) 
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Cash Flow Statement 
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2016 2015 

 

 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 
Receipts 

 

Transfers, subsidies and other  3,629,146 3,675,425 
Sale of goods and services and other  740,105 617,748 
Rental of facilities and equipment  160,955 192,680 
Interest income  89,164 83,465 

  4,619,370 4,569,318 

 
Payments 

   

Employee costs  (678,196) (1,177,787) 
Rental of land and buildings  (6,840) (7,410) 
Other payments  (3,248,467) (3,288,647) 

  (3,933,503) (4,473,844) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 21 685,866 95,474 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 

   

 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 

 

3 
 

(602,472) 
 

(125,039) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3 174,272 54,949 
Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (15,457) (1,238) 
Proceeds from sale of other intangible assets 4 - 6,150 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (443,657) (65,178) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 

   

 

Finance lease payments   

(47,318) 
 

(32,952) 
Purchase of other financial asset  42,610 - 
(Increase)/Decrease in non-current receivables  - 52,640 
(Decrease)/Increase in short term deposits  - (1,294) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  (4,708) 18,394 

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

  
237,501 

 
48,690 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  2,435,215 2,386,525 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 2,672,716 2,435,215 
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
1. Presentation of Financial Statements 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act 
(Act 1 of 1999). 

 
These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost 
convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand. 

 
In the absence of an issued and effective Standard of GRAP, accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions 
were developed in accordance with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5. 

 
Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a Standard 
of GRAP. 

 
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these financial 
statements, are disclosed below. The following Standards of GRAP have been issued and are effective: 

 
GRAP 1   Presentation of financial statements 

 
GRAP 2   Cash flow statements 

  
GRAP 3   Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors 

 
GRAP 4   The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 

 
GRAP 5   Borrowing cost 

 
GRAP 6   Consolidated and separate financial statements 

 
GRAP 7   Investment in associates 

 
GRAP 8   Interest in joint ventures 

 
GRAP 9   Revenue from exchange transactions 

 
GRAP 10  Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 

 
GRAP 11  Construction contracts 

 
GRAP 12  Inventories 

 
GRAP 13  Leases 

 
GRAP 14  Events after reporting dates 

 
GRAP 16  Investment property 

 
GRAP 17  Property, plant and equipment 

 
GRAP 18 Segment Reporting 

 
GRAP 19  Provisions, contingent liabilities and assets 

 
GRAP 21  Impairment of non-cash generating assets 

 
GRAP 23  Revenue from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers) 

GRAP 24  Presentation of budget information in financial statements 

GRAP 25  Employee benefits 

GRAP 26  Impairment of non-cash generating assets 
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
GRAP 31  Intangible assets 

 
GRAP 100  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

 
GRAP 103  Heritage assets 

 
GRAP 104  Financial instruments 

 
GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities under common control 

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities NOT under common control 

GRAP 107 Mergers 

IPSAS 20 Related parties 
 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 
 

1.1   Presentation currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity. 
 

1.2   Going concern assumption 
 

These financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to operate as a going 
concern for at least the next 12 months. 

 
1.3   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to 
the financial statements. 

 
Trade receivables 

 
The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the surplus makes judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset. 

 
Fair value estimation 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the entity is 
the current bid price. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. The entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for 
the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at 
the end of the reporting period. 

 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments. 
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
1.3   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Impairment testing 

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value- 
in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the [name a key assumption] assumption may change which may then impact our estimations and 
may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets. 

 
Allowance for doubtful debts 

 
On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition. 

 
1.4   Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during 
more than one reporting period. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when: 

 it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and 
 the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably. 

 
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

 
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition. 

 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination 
of assets and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item's fair 
value was not determinable, it's deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

 
The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the 
obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories. 

 
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value. 

 
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows: 

 
Item Average useful life 
Sundry equipment 7 to 13 years 
Audiovisual equipment 4 to 10 years 
Furniture 10 to 20 years 
Motor vehicles 6 to 13 years 
Garden equipment 7 to 12 years 
Computer hardware 3 to 10 years 
Leased computer equipment 5 years 
Workshop equipment 8 to 14 years 

 
The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at least at of each reporting date. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
1.4   Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate unless 
expectations differ from the previous estimate. 

 
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset. 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use or disposal of the asset. 

 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when 
the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. 

 
1.5   Intangible assets 

 
An asset is identifiable if it either: 

 is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or 

 arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations. 

 
An intangible asset is recognised when: 

 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity; and 

 the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of 
the asset. 

 
Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured 
at its fair value as at that date. 

 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

 
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not 
provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life. 

 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 

 
Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over 
its useful life. 

 
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows: 

 
Item                                                                                                         Useful life 
Computer software                                                                                  36 months 

 
1.6   Heritage assets 

 
Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected to flow to the entity. 

 
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting accumulated impairment losses. 

 
Class of heritage assets means a grouping of heritage assets of a similar nature or function in an entity’s operations that is 
shown as a single item for the purpose of disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
1.6   Heritage assets (continued) 

 
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the 
time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in 
accordance with the specific requirements of other Standards of GRAP. 

 
Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic significance 
and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations.  Land and buildings include the following: Various 
land and buildings, situated in Kimberley and surrounds, owned by the Board of Trustees of the Museum, plus a section of land 
near  Kuruman  over  which  the  Board  holds  a  servitude.  Various  other  land  and  buildings,  situated  and  Kimberley  and 
surrounds, made available to the Museum as the custodian on a permanent basis. These properties are encumbered and fully 
described in note 4. The properties are all declared Provincial or National Heritage Sites. 

 
Displays and collections include the following: Displays, by virtue of being permanent features inseparable from the museum 
buildings in which they are housed, are defines as defined as heritage assets. Museum collections are also defined as heritage 
assets. 

 
An impairment loss of a non-cash-generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable service amount. 

 
An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required by law or otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be disposed of 
without consent. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of a cash-generating asset’s net selling price and its value in use. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or 
cash-generating unit. 

 
Value in use of a non-cash-generating asset is the present value of the asset’s remaining service potential. 

 
Recognition 

 
The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. Expenses incurred in 
building of new displays are written off in the period of which they are incurred. Acquisitions, including library materials, are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
Initial measurement 

 
Heritage assets are measured at cost. 

 
Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. 
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1.6   Heritage assets (continued) 

Subsequent measurement 

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets, whose fair value can be measured reliably, is carried at a revalued 
amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent impairment losses. 

 
If a heritage asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is credited directly to a revaluation 
surplus. However, the increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the 
same heritage asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If a heritage asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
However, the decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation 
surplus in respect of that heritage asset. 

 
Impairment 

 
The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset. 

 
Transfers 

 
Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset. 

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets the definition of a heritage asset. 

Derecognition 
 

The entity derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from 
its use or disposal. 

 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the heritage asset. Such difference is recognised in surplus or deficit when the 
heritage asset is derecognised. 

 
1.7   Financial instruments 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual 
interest of another entity. 

 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or 
through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility. 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation. 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 

 
Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of 
financial position. 

 
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics: 

 Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of 
a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’). 

 It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types 
of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors. 

 It is settled at a future date. 
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1.7   Financial instruments (continued) 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums 
or discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be 
estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life 
of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full 
contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments). 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
A financial asset is: 

 cash; 
 a residual interest of another entity; or 
 a contractual right to: 

- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favourable to the entity. 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument. 

 
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to: 

 deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
 exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity. 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the 
market. 

 
A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due. 

 
A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A 
residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as: 

 equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital; 
 a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as 

forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or 
 a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the net 

assets of an entity. 
 

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or 
financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or 
disposed of the financial instrument. 
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1.7   Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed 
or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that: 

       the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or 
       are held for trading. 

 
Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

 
Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are: 

       derivatives; 
       combined instruments that are designated at fair value; 
       instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if: 

- it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or 
- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking; 
- non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at 
fair value at initial recognition; and 
- financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial 
instruments at cost. 

 
Classification 

 
The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto: 

 
` 

 
Class                                                                                                  Category 

Other financial assets                                                                Financial asset measured at amortised cost 
Trade and other receivables                                                      Financial asset measured at amortised cost 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                       Financial asset measured at amortised cost 

 
The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto: 

 
` 

 
Class                                                                                                  Category 

Finance lease liability                                                                Financial liability measured at amortised cost 
Trade and other payables                                                         Financial liability measured at amortised cost 

 
Initial recognition 

 
The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting. 

 
Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

 
The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value [if subsequently measured at fair value]. 

 
The entity first assesses whether the substance of a concessionary loan is in fact a loan. On initial recognition, the entity 
analyses a concessionary loan into its component parts and accounts for each component separately. The entity accounts for 
that part of a concessionary loan that is: 

 a social benefit in accordance with the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, 
where it is the issuer of the loan; or 

       non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 
(Taxes and Transfers), where it is the recipient of the loan. 
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1.7   Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories: 

 Financial instruments at fair value. 
 Financial instruments at amortised cost. 
 Financial instruments at cost. 

 
All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review. 

 
Fair value measurement considerations 

 
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the 
entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what the 
transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating 
considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to  price  the 
instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in  actual market 
transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies 
as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price 
and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the 
valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument 
(i.e. without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data. 

 
The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. 

 
Reclassification 

 
The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument while it is issued or held unless it is: 

 combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair value; or 
 an investment in a residual interest that meets the requirements for reclassification. 

 
Where the entity cannot reliably measure the fair value of an embedded derivative that has been separated from a host 
contract that is a financial instrument at a subsequent reporting date, it measures the combined instrument at fair value. This 
requires a reclassification of the instrument from amortised cost or cost to fair value. 

 
If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an investment in a residual interest measured at fair value, the entity 
reclassifies the investment from fair value to cost. The carrying amount at the date that fair value is no longer available 
becomes the cost. 

 
If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment in a residual interest for which a measure was previously not 
available, and the instrument would have been required to be measured at fair value, the entity reclassifies the instrument from 
cost to fair value. 

 
Gains and losses 

 
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is 
recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit 
when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation process. 

 
Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets 

 
The entity assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. 

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
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1.7   Financial instruments (continued) 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly OR through the use of an allowance account. The 
amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly OR by 
adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount 
of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
Financial assets measured at cost: 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not 
measured at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed. 

 
Derecognition 

 
Financial assets 

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting. 

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when: 
 the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived; 
 the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or 
 the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has 

transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its 
entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose 
additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity : 
- derecognise the asset; and 
- recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer. 

 
The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and those transferred on 
the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are measured at their fair values 
at that date. Any difference between the consideration received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised 
in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer. 

 
If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right to service 
the financial asset for a fee, it recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract. If the fee to be 
received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for performing the servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing 
obligation is recognised at its fair value. If the fee to be received is expected to be more than adequate compensation for the 
servicing, a servicing asset is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the 
carrying amount of the larger financial asset. 

 
If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity obtaining a new 
financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity recognise the new financial asset, financial 
liability or servicing liability at fair value. 

 
On  derecognition  of  a  financial  asset  in  its  entirety,  the  difference  between  the  carrying  amount  and  the  sum  of  the 
consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety, the 
previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part 
that is derecognised, based on the relative fair values of those parts, on the date of the transfer. For this purpose, a retained 
servicing asset is treated as a part that continues to be recognised. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to 
the part derecognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
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1.7   Financial instruments (continued) 

 
If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the transferred asset, the entity continue to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognise a financial liability for 
the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the entity recognises any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense 
incurred on the financial liability. Neither the asset, and the associated liability nor the revenue, and the associated expenses 
are offset. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived. 

 
An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is accounted for as 
having extinguished the original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Similarly, a substantial modification 
of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it is accounted for as having extinguished the original financial liability 
and having recognised a new financial liability. 

 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another entity by way of a non-exchange transaction 
are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and 
Transfers). 

 
Presentation 

 
Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in 
surplus or deficit. 

 
Dividends or similar distributions relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as 
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit. 

 
Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or 
expense in surplus or deficit. 

 
A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when the entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the transferred 
asset and the associated liability. 

 
1.8   Leases 

 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

 
When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately. 

 
Finance leases - lessee 

 
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value 
of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on the remaining balance 
of the liability. 

 
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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1.9   Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 

 
Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the entity with the primary objective of generating a commercial return. When 
an asset is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-orientated entity, it generates a commercial return. 

 
Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets. 

 
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation). 

 
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon. 

 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets held with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets. 

 
Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense. 

 
Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

 
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Useful life is either: 
(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or 
(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the entity. 

 
Identification 

 
When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired. 

 
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset. 

 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also test a non-cash-generating intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its 
carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an 
intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period. 
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1.9   Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued) 

Value in use 

Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service potential. 
 

The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating assets is determined using the following 
approach: 

 
Depreciated replacement cost approach 

 
The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined as the depreciated 
replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. This 
cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced either through reproduction (replication) 
of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated replacement cost is measured as 
the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of 
such cost, to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset. 

 
The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset is determined on an “optimised” basis. The rationale is that the entity 
would not replace or reproduce the asset with a like asset if the asset to be replaced or reproduced is an overdesigned or 
overcapacity asset. Overdesigned assets contain features which are unnecessary for the goods or services the asset provides. 
Overcapacity assets are assets that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the demand for goods or services the 
asset provides. The determination of the replacement cost or reproduction cost of an asset on an optimised basis thus reflects 
the service potential required of the asset. 

 
Recognition and measurement 

 
If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

 
Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 
When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP. 

 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
Reversal of an impairment loss 

 
The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 
recoverable service amount of that asset. 

 
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods. 

 
A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase. 

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 



51

McGREGOR MUSEUM | ANNUAL REPORT | 2015-2016

45 

McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
1.9   Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued) 

Redesignation 

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset 
to a cash-generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate. 

 
1.10 Employee benefits 

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard 
of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund 
employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) 
and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either: 

 the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit 
obligations; or 

 the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid. 
 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either: 
 an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or 
 an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 

 
Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that 
are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 

 
Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment. 

 
Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide post- 
employment benefits as well as to provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice, 
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain 
responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities. 
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1.10 Employee benefits (continued) 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 

 
Short-term employee benefits include items such as: 

 wages, salaries and social security contributions; 
 short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the 

absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related employee service; 

 bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; and 

 non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cellphones) for current employees. 

 
When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognise the undiscounted amount 
of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service: 

 as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent 
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and 

 as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset. 
 

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.  The entity measure the expected 
cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date. 

 
The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can 
be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments. 

 
1.11 Provisions and contingencies 

 
Provisions are recognised when: 

 the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event; 
 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 

settle the obligation; and 
 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

 
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date. 

 
Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

 
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. 

 
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles 
the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not 
exceed the amount of the provision. 

 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is 
no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle the 
obligation. 

 
Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as an interest expense. 

 
A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. 
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1.11 Provisions and contingencies (continued) 

 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits. 

 
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision. 

 
A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity: 

 has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least: 
- the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned; 
- the principal locations affected; 
- the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being 
terminated; 
- the expenditures that will be undertaken; and 
- when the plan will be implemented; and 

 has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that 
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. 

 
A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both: 

 necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and 
 not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity 

 
No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation until the entity is committed to the sale or 
transfer, that is, there is a binding arrangement. 

 
After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in entity combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of: 

 the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and 
 the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation. 

 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 23. 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument. 

 
Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. 

 
The entity recognises a provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the obligation can be made. 

 
Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indications that 
an outflow of resources may be probable are: 

 financial difficulty of the debtor; 
 defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor; 
 breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the 

ability of the debtor to settle its obligation on the amended terms; and 
 a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact on 

the ability of entities to repay their obligations. 
 

Where a fee is received by the entity for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, it is 
considered in determining the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date. Where a fee is 
charged and the entity considers that an outflow of economic resources is probable, an entity recognises the obligation at the 
higher of: 

 the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; 
and 

 the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions. 
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1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions 

 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an 
increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners. 

 
An exchange transaction is one in which the municipality receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Measurement 

 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates. 

 
Sale of goods 

 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
 the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold; 
 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

and 
 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
Rendering of services 

 
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with 
the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome 
of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 
 the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and 
 the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of 
completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the 
significant act is executed. 

 
When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

 
Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the total estimated costs of the transaction. 
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1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions 

 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an 
increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners. 

 
An exchange transaction is one in which the municipality receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Measurement 

 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates. 

 
Sale of goods 

 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
 the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold; 
 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

and 
 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
Rendering of services 

 
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with 
the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome 
of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 
 the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and 
 the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of 
completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the 
significant act is executed. 

 
When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

 
Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the total estimated costs of the transaction. 
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1.13 Revenue from non-exchange transactions (continued) 

Recognition 

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent 
that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow. 

 
As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of 
revenue equal to that reduction. 

 
Measurement 

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity. 

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to the 
amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a liability. 
Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is 
subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is 
recognised as revenue. 

 
Transfers 

 
Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the 
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

 
The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy 
the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

 
Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

 
Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind 

 
Gifts and donations, including goods in kind, are recognised as assets and revenue when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably. 

 
1.14 Investment income 

 
Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

 
1.15 Comparative figures 

 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. 

 
1.16 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

 
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised. 

 
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance. 

 
1.17 Irregular expenditure 

 
Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including - 

(a) this Act; or 
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or 
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government. 
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1.9   Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued) 

Redesignation 

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset 
to a cash-generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate. 

 
1.10 Employee benefits 

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard 
of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund 
employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) 
and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either: 

 the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit 
obligations; or 

 the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid. 
 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either: 
 an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or 
 an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 

 
Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that 
are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 

 
Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment. 

 
Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide post- 
employment benefits as well as to provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice, 
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain 
responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities. 
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1.20 Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors 

 
Changes in accounting policies that are effected by management have been applied retrospectively in accordance with GRAP 
3 requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of 
the change in policy. In such cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the 
earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable. 

 
Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes in 
estimates are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements where applicable. 

 
Correction of errors is applied retrospectively in the period in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the 
error. In such cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for 
which retrospective restatement is practicable. Refer to note 24 to the Annual Financial Statements for details of corrections of 
errors recorded during the period under review. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
Figures in Rand 2016 2015 

 
 

2. New standards and interpretations 
 

2.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 
 

In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations: 

 
Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: 

Years beginning on or 
after 

Expected impact: 

 GRAP 18: Segment Reporting 01 April 2015 The impact of the standard 
is not material. 

 GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under 
common control 

 GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities not 
under common control 

01 April 2015 The impact of the standard 
is not material. 

01 April 2015 The impact of the standard 
is not material. 

 GRAP 107: Mergers 01 April 2015 The impact of the standard 
is not material. 

 
2.2   Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective 

 
The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for 
the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2016 or later periods: 

 
Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: 

Years beginning on or 
after 

Expected impact: 

 GRAP32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor            01 April 2016                      The impact of the 
amendment is not 
material. 

 GRAP108: Statutory Receivables                                             01 April 2016                      The impact of the 
amendment is not 
material. 

 IGRAP17: Service Concession Arrangements where a 
Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset 

01 April 2016                      The impact of the 
amendment is not 
material. 

 GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents                     01 April 2016                      The impact of the 
amendment is not 
material. 

 
3. Property, plant and equipment 

 
2016 2015 

Cost / Accumulated Carrying value Cost / Accumulated Carrying value 
Valuation depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Valuation depreciation 
and 

accumulated 
impairment 

 

Motor vehicles 1,611,496 (434,324) 1,177,172 1,372,356 (454,954) 917,402 
Furniture 1,632,852 (766,810) 866,042 1,634,661 (666,875) 967,786 
Computer hardware 479,473 (379,175) 100,298 456,979 (335,380) 121,599 
Garden equipment 127,435 (83,355) 44,080 136,007 (75,406) 60,601 
Audio & visual equipment 253,789 (199,730) 54,059 256,137 (174,311) 81,826 
Workshop equipment 72,368 (50,733) 21,635 72,699 (45,126) 27,573 
Sundry equipment 827,097 (336,886) 490,211 726,811 (246,310) 480,501 
Leased computer equipment 188,867 (107,038) 81,829 188,867 (69,187) 119,680 
Total 5,193,377 (2,358,051) 2,835,326 4,844,517 (2,067,549) 2,776,968 
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3. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2016 

 
 Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Total 

balance     
Motor vehicles 917,402 460,140 (90,269) (110,101) 1,177,172 
Furniture 967,786 - (1,039) (100,705) 866,042 
Computer hardware 121,599 36,095 (2,057) (55,339) 100,298 
Garden Equipment 60,601 2,195 (6,794) (11,922) 44,080 
Audio & visual equipment 81,826 - (456) (27,311) 54,059 
Workshop equipment 27,573 - (67) (5,871) 21,635 
Sundry equipment 480,501 104,042 (1,681) (92,651) 490,211 
Leased computer equipment 119,680 - - (37,851) 81,829 

 2,776,968 602,472 (102,363) (441,751) 2,835,326 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2015 
 

 Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Total 
balance     

Motor vehicles 1,039,326 - - (121,924) 917,402 
Furniture 1,055,559 14,649 (2,013) (100,409) 967,786 
Computer hardware 198,518 16,852 (17,598) (76,173) 121,599 
Garden equipment 78,017 - (3,062) (14,354) 60,601 
Audio & visual equipment 113,858 9,533 (2,246) (39,319) 81,826 
Workshop equipment 38,716 5,295 (7,702) (8,736) 27,573 
Sundry equipment 493,073 78,710 (15,252) (76,030) 480,501 
Leased computer equipment 157,428 - - (37,748) 119,680 

 3,174,495 125,039 (47,873) (474,693) 2,776,968 
 

Pledged as security 
 

No property, plant and equipment is pledged as security for liabilities, there is no property, plant and equipment whose title is 
restricted and there are also no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment. 

 
Compensation received for losses on property, plant and equipment – included in operating profit. 

 

Buildings 16,565 - 
Computer equipment - 16,100 
Sundry equipment - 45,000 

 16,565 61,100 
 

Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount) 
 

Leased computer equipment 81,829 119,680 
 

A register containing the information required by the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 is available for inspection 
at the registered office of the entity. 
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4. Intangible assets 

 
2016 2015 

Cost / Accumulated Carrying value Cost / Accumulated Carrying value 
Valuation amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Valuation amortisation 
and 

accumulated 
impairment 

Computer software 47,416 (30,490) 16,926 31,959 (26,088) 5,871 
 

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Amortisation Total 

Computer software 5,871 15,457 (4,402) 16,926 
 

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total 

Computer software 19,947 1,238 (6,150) (9,164) 5,871 
 

5. Heritage assets 
 

2016 2015 
Cost / Accumulated Carrying value Cost / Accumulated Carrying value 

 

 
 

Heritage assets which fair values 
cannot be reliably measured: 
(Para .94) 

Valuation impairment 
losses 

Valuation impairment 
losses 

Art Collections, antiquities and 
exhibits 

1 - 1 1 - 1 

Land and buildings 1 - 1 1 - 1 
Total 2 - 2 2 - 2 

 
Reconciliation of heritage assets 2016 

 
 
 

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured: (Para .94) 

Opening 
balance 

Total 

Art Collections, antiquities and exhibits 1 1 
Land and buildings 1 1 

2 2 
 

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2015 
 
 
 

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured: (Para .94) 

Opening 
balance 

Total 

Art Collections, antiquities and exhibits 1 1 
Land and buildings 1 1 

2 2 
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5.     Heritage assets (continued) 

 
 
 

Colllections and library materials 
 

Description 
 

* The museum has a diversity of collections that is linked to its various disciplines eg African material culture, archaeology, 
botany, zoology, and history.These collections are held in trust on behalf of the nation, and form the core of the museum's 
functions. 

 
* The individual items in the collections are termed museum artefacts or specimens . 

 
* Artefacts and specimens are acquired by way of decades of research, observation and gathering by dedicated researchers 
both from the museum and from other institutions. Artefacts are also acquired by way of donations from the public, and, very 
rarely by outright purchase of artefacts. 

 
* Acceptance of an artefact or specimen into a museum collection is termed accessioning. The process of accessioning 
involves establishing the provenance of the artefact, ( description, source, date, history, any other information etc). 

 
* If found acceptable for accessioning, the artefact or specimen is allocated a unique accession number. In some instances the 
same accession number is given to multiple items if they are all interrelated. 
These numbers are recognised internationally - in the case of McGregor Museum they are all suffixed with the identifier MMK 
(McGregor Museum Kimberley) - followed by a combination of alpha-numeric characters. 

 
* Depending on the nature of the artefact, the accession number is affixed to the artefact by a variety of methods - engraving, 
marking in indelible ink, labelling, labelling on storage package etc. 

 
* Once accessioned, the artefact or specimen requires ongoing conservation and curatorial attention of a very high standard, 
plus physical safeguarding from damage, deterioration, vandalism and theft. Use is made of fire-protected secure storerooms, 
walk-in safes, temperature and humidity controlled containers etc. Special acid-free storage boxes, paper and other collection 
materials are used for storage eg pure alcohol . 

 
* Every accessioned artefact or specimen is recorded in the accession register of each particular collection. Details recorded in 
the accession registers are the accession number, plus details of provenance, description, source, date, history, other 
information, and more recently, with the advent of digitalisation, photos and links. 

 
* The museum's collections date back to its establishment in 1907. During stock takes done over the past 15-20 years it has 
become clear that much of the earliest items are unaccounted for. Old accession registers are leather bound books, completed 
manually in writing. 

 
* With the advent of digitisation, the registers are being digitised using software developed specifically for museum collections, 
essentially converting the manual accession registers into vast searchable databases. None of the collections are fully digitised 
yet. They are all at varying stages of digitisation. The manual registers are still maintained side by side with the electronic 
registers. 

 
* Most of the library materials are rare Africana material of which most was donated to the library. These are also no longer in 
print. 

 
* The method of procurement of specimens/objects, the subsequent handling, accessioning, storing, cataloguing, digitisation, 
displaying,  deaccessioning  and  disposal  of  these  specimens/objects  etc  differs  from  department  to  department  and  is 
explained in each department's policy. 

 
Useful economic lives 
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5.     Heritage assets (continued) 

 
Heritage assets in museums are intended to have indefinite or infinite economic lives. It is one of the core functions of 
museums to conserve, protect and preserve these assets for the benefit of present and future generations. 

 
Once accessioned, an artefact cannot be be sold nor disposed of. The process of de-accessioning is a stringent process in 
terms of the Museums Ordinance and the entity's own collections policies, requiring permission from the Museum Board and 
the MEC. 

 
In practice, de-accessioning never occurs - only if an item is stolen, vandalised or destroyed by an act of God or nature (fire, 
earthquake, warfare etc) does this happen. In fact, due to professional staff vacancies and other security concerns, the 
museum's collections were last year placed at the top of the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture's risk assessment by an 
official from Provincial Treasury. 

 
Valuation 

 
Museum management contends that there is no objective nor rational method of valuing its heritage assets, and even if there 
were, the costs involved would be prohibitively expensive, far beyond the means of the museum at the present time (requiring 
outside professional expertise, some of which is not even available within South Africa ). 

 
The land and original buildings were acquired by donations over the past century, and have been subsequently added to or 
extended since acquisition. 

 
They will never be disposed of on the open market, so cannot be related to the commercial property market. 

 
Most of the items in the collections, by their very nature (refer to descriptions of the artefacts above) do not readily lend 
themselves to valuation. Concepts like "priceless", "invaluable" and "irreplaceable" come into play when considering museum 
collections, which are indeed national treasures. 

 
The buildings and collections are covered by insurance, but the policy does not specify individual items. The policy provides 
blanket cover, which is upped every year by a percentage derived from CPIX inflation numbers and other risk considerations 
(this policy was specifically designed by Santam for the larger museums and art galleries in the country). Thus insured values 
do not assist in GRAP103 compliance regarding valuations. 

 
Any attempt at valuation could never meet any objective standard of fairness, nor be complete, so management's view is that 
auditors could never express an opinion thereon. 

 
As such, with the recognition of the entity's heritage assets, neither the revaluation model nor the cost model that GRAP 103 
prescribes can be used as a method to determine fair value. 

 
Current collections and library materials 

 
Current collections and library materials are set out in the supplementary information, to the annual financial statements. 

 

Immovable heritage assets 
 
Land and buildings open for public display: 
 
Unencumbered ownership: 

 

Sanatoruim 
Dunluce 
Rudd House 
Duggan Cronin Gallery 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum 

2-12 Edgerton Road, Kimberley 
10 Lodge Road, Kimberley 
5 Loch Road, Kimberley 
2 - 2 Edgerton Road, Kimberley 

Erf: 01/00000/000 
Erf: 01/00000/484 
Erf: 01/00000/507 
Erf: 01/00000/000 

Servitude: 
Wonderwerk Cave 

 
Portion of farm Ga Segonyane District 

 

Occupational (custodianship): 
Alexander Mc Gregor Museum 

 
18 Chapel Street, Kimberley 

 
Erf: 01/100010/340 

Pioneers of Aviation Alexanderfontein way, Kimberley Erf: 01/00000/000 



64

McGREGOR MUSEUM | ANNUAL REPORT | 2015-2016

58 

McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Figures in Rand 2016 2015 

 

 

 

 
6. Other financial assets 

 

Non - current portion of long term receivable 
Capitallised receivable - Cost 

 
16,965 

 
59,576 

- Current portion of receivable - (52,985) 
Long term portion of receivable 16,965 6,591 

 
Payments due towards receviable balance 
- within one year 

 
 

16,965 

 
 

52,985 
- in second to fifth year inclusive - 6,590 

Total present value of payments receivable 16,965 59,575 

 
Non-current assets 

 
- 

 
6,590 

Current assets 16,965 52,985 

 16,965 59,575 
 

The receivable arises from 2009 and is owed by a supplier who defaulted and against whom judgement was obtained for the 
amount of R231 961, payable in monthly instalments with costs. 

 
Monthly instalments received from the collection attorney amount to R4 415. 

 
7. Receivables from exchange transactions 

 

Trade debtors 155,243 154,202 
Prepayments 2,000 1,750 
Deposits 3,200 3,200 
Other receivables 400 9,547 
Outstanding insurance claim - 53,100 
Accrued income 8,375 700 
Provision for impairment - Trade debtors (23,366) (15,823) 

 145,852 206,676 
 

Analysis of Trade and other receivables due 
 

The ageing of amounts past due 
 
0 - 30 days 

is as follows: 
 

 
 

24,595 

 

 
 

42,572 
30 - 60 days  72,370 13,124 
90 - 120 days  - 3,633 
120 days +  58,278 94,873 
Total  155,243 154,202 

 
Trade and other receivables impaired 

 
As of 31 March 2016, trade and other receivables of R 23,366 (2015: R 15,823) were impaired and provided for. 

 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 
Rand 

 
 
 

145,852 

 
 
 

206,676 

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables   
 

Opening balance 
 

15,823 
 

12,190 
Provision for impairment 7,543 3,633 

 23,366 15,823 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

 

 

Cash on hand 
 

31,500 
 

66,900 
Bank balances 370,838 236,154 
Short-term deposits 2,270,378 2,132,161 

 2,672,716 2,435,215 
 
Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand 

  

 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can 
be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information about counterparty default rates: 

 
Credit rating 
AAA 2,641,816 2,368,315 

 
9. Finance lease obligation 

 

Minimum lease payments due 
- within one year 

 
46,498 

 
46,498 

- in second to fifth year inclusive 58,123 104,621 

 104,621 151,119 
less: future finance charges (9,699) (19,478) 
Present value of minimum lease payments 94,922 131,641 

 
Non-current liabilities 

 
54,959 

 
94,921 

Current liabilities 39,963 36,720 

 94,922 131,641 
 
It is entity policy to lease certain computer related equipment under finance leases. 

  

The average lease term was 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9% (2015: 9%).   
 

The entity's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets. Refer note 3. 
 

10.   Unspent conditional grants and receipts 
 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts comprises of: 

 

 

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 
Rosa Luxemburg Oral History Project 

 
 

13,250 

 
 

13,250 
Nooitgedacht Rock Art Project - 42,280 
NRF Indigenous Knowledge Project - 72,852 

 13,250 128,382 
 
Movement during the year 

  

 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
 

128,382 
 

77,002 
Current year receipts 180,000 403,306 
Transfer to trade and other payables: non-exchange transactions (42,280) - 
Conditions met - Transfer to revenue (252,852) (351,926) 

 13,250 128,382 
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10.   Unspent conditional grants and receipts (continued) 

 

 

Current liabilities 
 

13,250 
 

128,382 
 13,250 128,382 

 

The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements and an indication of other forms of 
government assistance from which the entity has directly benefited; and 

 
Unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that has been recognised. 

 

11.   Payables from exchange transactions  
 

Trade payables 
 

255,629 
 

232,368 
Income received in advance 2,600 6,400 
Accrued expenses 2,184 18,577 

 260,413 257,345 
 

The carrying amount of payables from exchange transactions are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

Rand 260,413 257,346 
 

12.   Taxes and transfers payable (non-exchange) 
 

National Lottery Development Trust Fund (Nooitgedacht Rock Art Project) 42,280 - 
 

13.   Financial instruments disclosure 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
 

2016 
 

Financial assets 
 

At amortised 
cost 

Total 

Other financial assets 16,965 16,965 
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 145,852 145,852 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,672,716 2,672,716 

2,835,533 2,835,533 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

At amortised 
cost 

Total 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 260,413 260,413 
Taxes and transfers payable (non-exchange) 42,280 42,280 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 13,250 13,250 

315,943 315,943 
 

2015 
 

Financial assets 
 

At amortised 
cost 

Total 

Other financial assets 59,575 59,575 
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 206,676 206,676 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,435,215 2,435,215 
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. Financial instruments disclosure (continued)  

 
2,701,466 2,701,466 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
At amortised 

cost 
Total 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 257,345 257,345 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 128,382 128,382 

385,727 385,727 
 

14.   Revenue 
 

Sale of goods and rendering of services 670,199 563,197 
Rental of facilities and equipment 160,955 192,680 
Discount received  573  - 
Insurance claim received 16,565 30,685 
Interest received 89,164 83,465 
Government grants & subsidies 3,372,844 3,014,675 
Public contributions and donations 75,702 248,230 
Conditional grants 252,852 330,454 

4,638,854 4,463,386 
 

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services 
are as follows: 
Sale of goods and rendering of services 670,199 563,197 
Rental of facilities and equipment 160,955 192,680 
Discount received  573  - 
Insurance claim received 16,565 30,685 
Interest received 89,164 83,465 

937,456 870,027 
 

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as 
follows: 

 
Transfer revenue 
Government grants & subsidies 3,372,844 3,014,675 
Public contributions and donations 75,702 248,230 
Other grants: Revenue on conditional grants 252,852 330,454 

3,701,398 3,593,359 



68

McGREGOR MUSEUM | ANNUAL REPORT | 2015-2016

62 

McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Figures in Rand 2016 2015 

 

 

 

 
15.   Government grants and subsidies 

 
 

Government subsidy: Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 3,133,000 2,953,000 
Government grant: Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture - Special 
Projects 

239,844 61,675 

 
 
 

3,372,844 3,014,675 
 

Conditional and Unconditional 
 

Included in above are the following grants and subsidies received: 
 
 

Grant: Rosa Luxemburg Oral History Project 
 

Balance unspent at beginning of year 13,250 13,250 
 

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 10). 
 

This grant (R35 000) was received from the Rosa Luxemburg Foundation in August 2012. Funds are to be used to educate 
schools on history by making oral presentations and telling stories. The remaining balance will still be utilised for this purpose. 

 
Grant: Nooitgedacht Rock Art Project 

 
Balance unspent at beginning of year 42,280 42,280 
Transfer to trade and other payables (non-exchange) (42,280) - 

- 42,280 
 

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 10). 
 

Upgrading and preservation of a rock art site at Nooitgedacht and establishment of visitors interpretive centre in partnership 
with the Northern Cape Rock Art Trust (NCRAT). This project never got off the ground due to various reasons and hence it was 
abandoned. The amount unspent has been refunded to the National Lottery (NLDTF) in April 2016. 

 
Grant: NRF Indegenous Knowledge Project 

 
Balance unspent at beginning of year                                                                                                          72,852             72,852 
Current-year receipts                                                                                                                                  180,000                       - 
Conditions met - transferred to revenue                                                                                                    (252,852)                      - 

- 72,852 
 

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note 10). 
 

This project had been run in association with Professor Abel Pienaar from the North West University (Grant nr 91573) and 
related to the integration of African indigenous knowledge systems in the health professional curriculum. All funding has been 
spent and the project ended in 2016. 
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16.   Other revenue 
 
Discount received 

 
 
 
 

573 

 
 
 
 

- 
Insurance claim 16,565 30,685 

 17,138 30,685 

 
The amount included in other revenue arising from exchanges of goods or 
services are as follows: 
Discount received 

 
 
 

573 

 
 
 

- 
Insurance claim 16,565 30,685 

 17,138 30,685 
 
17.   General expenses 

  

 

Advertising 
 

5,989 
 

25,005 
Audit fees 506,949 465,088 
Bank charges 41,060 46,762 
Cleaning 46,413 83,617 
Conferences and delegations 47,956 332,954 
Consulting fees 153,691 65,431 
Consumables 9,330 23,562 
Electricity 584,159 546,668 
Entertainment and catering 126,831 95,280 
Fuel and oil 119,507 160,193 
Insurance 273,283 258,749 
Licence fees - computers 8,699 4,575 
Licence fees - vehicles 3,945 4,059 
NRF Academic support 180,000 - 
Postage and courier 5,286 2,833 
Printing and stationery 76,891 52,312 
Professional fees 135,813 46,694 
Rental of buildings 6,840 7,410 
Security costs 91,115 74,683 
Staff presentations 3,118 6,978 
Stocks and material 14,966 14,651 
Subscriptions and publications 5,643 8,906 
Subsistence and travel 164,455 101,333 
Telephone and internet costs 80,052 114,357 
Training - 1,480 
Transport claims - 5,000 
Uniforms and overalls 36,443 9,577 
Water and sanitation 169,803 185,049 

 2,898,237 2,743,206 
 
18.   Employee related costs 

  

 

Basic 
 

678,196 
 

1,177,787 
 
19.   Impairment of assets 

  

 

Impairments 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 

7,543 

 
 

7,447 
Receivable balances past due impaired based on objective evidence of non - 
payments. 
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20.   Finance costs 

 
Finance leases 10,599 13,331 

 
Capitalisation rates used during the period were 9% on specific borrowings. 

 
Total interest expense, calculated using the effective interest rate, on financial instruments not at fair value through surplus or 
deficit amounted to R 11,452 (2015: R 14,115). 

 

21.   Cash generated from operations 
 
Surplus (deficit) 

 
 
 

309,983 

 
 
 

(370,186) 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortisation 446,155 483,856 
Loss on sale of assets and liabilities (71,909) (7,076) 
Finance costs - Finance leases 10,599 13,331 
Impairment deficit 7,543 7,447 
Changes in working capital:   
Receivables from exchange transactions 53,281 54,550 
Payables from exchange transactions 3,067 (137,829) 
Taxes and transfers payable (non exchange) 42,280 - 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts (115,132) 51,381 

 685,867 95,474 
 

22.   Commitments 
 

Authorised operational expenditure 
 

Already contracted for but not provided for 
 Consulting fees 124,944 - 
 IT services service provider 70,640 - 

  195,584 - 
 

This  committed  expenditure  relates  to  accounting, administrative and IT services  and will be financed by existing cash 
resources,  funds internally generated and government assistance. 

 
23.   Contingencies 

 
The entity does not have any contingent assets nor liabilities on 31 March 2016 that require disclosure in terms of GRAP 19, 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
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24.   Related parties 

 
` 

Relationships 
Board members                                                                                           Refer to members' report note 
Department with significant influence MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts 

and Culture 
Members of key management S Swanepoel (CEO - Acting) 

Z Cader (CFO) 
R Green (Financial Accountant - retired 31 October 
2015) 

 
Related party transactions 

 
Transfer payment paid (received from) related party 
Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture                                                                          (3,133,000)      (2,953,000) 

 
Other grants and special projects paid (received from) related party 
Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture                                                                             (239,844)           (42,000) 

 
Key management of the entity is not being remunerated by the museum, they have been appointed by the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. The Board of Trustees do not receive any remuneration from the Museum. 

 
25.   Prior period errors 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment in the prior years were not complete, items identified during current year asset count 
have been recognised in terms of GRAP 17, Property, plant and equipment.  A correction has been made on the finance lease 
liability with regards to initial recognition. 

 
The errors have been retrospectively adjusted, in terms of GRAP 3, Changes in Accounting policies, estimates and errors. 

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows: 

Statement of financial position 
Property, plant and equipment                                                                                                                               -               5,738 
Finance lease liability - (3,059) 
Opening Accumulated Surplus or Deficit - (3,100) 

 
Statement of Financial Performance 
Depreciation                                                                                                                                                           -               1,205 
Finance charges                                                                                                                                                     -                 (784) 

 
26.   Comparative figures 

 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified. 

 
The reclassification of amounts due to entity was done to ensure that transactions are classified inaccordance with the nature 
of the balance due, as required by GRAP 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 

 
The effects of the reclassification are as follows: 

 
Statement of financial position 
Other financial assets (long term portion)                                                                                                              -               6,590 
Other financial assets (short term portion)                                                                                                             -             52,985 
Other non - current assets -   (6,590) 
Trade and other receivabled from exchange transactions - (52,985) 
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27.   Risk management 

 
Financial risk management 

 
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments. 

 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The entity 
only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party. 

 
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk 
control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of 
credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. Credit guarantee 
insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate. 

 
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 

 
` 

Financial instrument                                                                                                                              2016                 2015 
Trade receivables                                                                                                                                       145,582           206,676 
Other financial assets                                                                                                                                   16,965             52,985 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                     2,672,716        2,435,215 

 
Market risk 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
As  the  entity  has  no  significant  interest-bearing  assets,  the  entity’s  income  and  operating  cash  flows  are  substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 

 
Cash flow interest rate risk 

 
` 

Financial instrument  Current 
interest rate 

Due in less 
than a year 

Due in one to 
two years 

Due in two to 
three years 

Due in three 
to four years 

Due after five 
years 

Trade and other receivables - 
normal credit terms 
Other financial assets 
Cash in current banking 
institutions 
Trade and other payables 
Finance lease liabilities 

- % 
 

- % 
- % 

 
- % 

9.00 % 

145,582 - - - - 
 

16,965 - - - - 
2,672,716 - - - - 
 

302,695 - - - - 
39,963 54,957 - - - 

 
28.   Going concern 

 
We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2016, the entity had accumulated surplus of R 5,276,922 and that the entity's 
total assets exceeds its liabilities by R 5,276,922. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 



73

McGREGOR MUSEUM | ANNUAL REPORT | 2015-2016

67 

McGregor Museum 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Figures in Rand 2016 2015 

 

 

 

 
28.   Going concern (continued) 

 
The  entity  is  wholly  dependent  on  the  Northern  Cape  Department  of  Sport,  Arts  and  Culture  for  continued  funding  of 
operations. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
29.   Events after the reporting date 

 
No significant events occured after the reporting date that would require additional discosure and or adjustment of the financial 
statements . 

 

30.   Irregular expenditure 
 
Opening balance 

 
 
 

656,123 

 
 
 

- 
Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year 256,640 656,123 

 912,763 656,123 
 
Adjustment irregular expenditure balance 31 March 2015 

  

 

Irregular expenditure 2014/15 - previously disclosed 
 

- 
 

457,032 
Irregular expenditure - additional 2014/15 - 199,091 

 - 656,123 
 

An investigation conducted in procurement transactions of 2014/15 resulted in additional irregular expenditure being identified 
amounting to R199 091. The additional irregular expenditure identified, relates to supply chain management procedures of the 
entity not being followed. 

 
Details of irregular expenditure – current year 

 
Supply chain management procedures of the 
entity not followed during procurement process. 

 
Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings 

Under investigation 256,640 
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  1.  C
ollections and library m

aterials 

  
N

am
e of collection 

  
N

um
ber of 

  
N

um
ber of 

  
B

rief description of artefacts or 

  
Total 

 
 

item
s 31 

additions 31 
specim

ens 
 

 
 

M
arch 2015 

M
arch 2016  

 
Archaeology 

M
ost accessions represent assem

blages from
 

7,554 
16 M

ost accessions represent assem
blages 

7,570 
 

sites m
ostly in the N

orthern C
ape, i.e. can range 

 
 

from
 sites m

ostly in the N
orthern C

ape, 
 

from
 1 artefact per accession to tens of thousands 

each. In som
e cases new

 m
aterial to be acquired 

in the future w
ill receive the sam

e historic 
accession num

ber. For various historic reasons 
there are large gaps in the sequence. N

O
TE: 

W
hile only 2 accessions w

ere added in 
2014, very large num

bers of artefacts w
ere 

acquired/processed under older accession 
num

bers, i.e. 6538, 7457, 7459,7460,7467, 7472, 
7473, 8060. A large assem

blage from
 D

iam
ond 

Park, being curated in 2014/15, w
ill not be 

accessioned at alas it w
ill need by law

 to be 
reburied. H

erbarium
 (plant specim

ens) 

i.e. can range from
 artefact per 

axxession to tens of thousands each. 

Botany 
H

erbarium
 (plant specim

ens) 
36,347 

117 M
ounted grasses, herbs, 

shrubs, bulbs,(seeds, leaves & 
flow

ers of trees) etc. 

36,464 

H
istory 

H
istoric D

ocum
ents and m

anuscripts: M
M

K (old 
collection); 
Estates 
M

M
KD

 
M

M
KD

M
H

 
Photographic 

Photographs: H
istoric 

D
uggan-C

ronin and Aubrey Elliot 
Jean M

orris  

27,460 
1 Letters, diaries, certificates, 

pam
phlets,bank notes, m

aps, 
legal docum

ents, estate papers 
etc. in fact any paper based 
object 

27,387 
1,171 N

egatives (glass , c ellulose), 
Postcards, Photographs 
(colour, BW

, sepia) 

27,461 
    28,558 

M
aterial C

ulture W
estern 

17,252 
301 Textiles, furniture, ceram

ics, 
m

edals, coins,cutlery, 
cam

eras, typew
riters etc in fact 

any W
estern cultural object 

M
aterial C

ulture African 
Anthropological artefacts 

4,500 
- Beads, pottery, bow

s arrow
s 

and spears, loin cloths, grass 
and skin m

ats, egg shells etc. 
in fact any African cultural 
object 

17,553 
   4,500 
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M

ilitary 
M

ilitary artefacts 
2,015 

- W
eapons and m

em
orabilia, 

uniform
s, battlefield debris, 

am
m

unition, shells, field 
equipm

ent, m
edals, buttons 

and badge etcs 

2,015 

Zoology 
Archaeozoology; H

erpetology; M
am

m
ology; 

O
rnithology 

35,000 
- Skeletal m

aterial; R
eptiles; 

M
am

m
als; Birds 

35,000 

Library 
Africana m

aterials 
5,618 

105 Books and scientific journals 
5,723 

163,133 
1,711 

164,844 
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McGregor Museum Staff
APRIL 2015- MARCH 2016

ADMINISTRATION
 
 Acting Manager    Sunet Swanepoel
 Assistant Manager  Coert Smit BA THOD (Retired -  August 2015)
 Finance Officer   Rodney Green B Comm; Dip Acc (Retired - October 2015)
 Human Resources  Felicity Msuthu 
 Procurement   Beryl Camroodien*
 Driver/Messenger   Daniel van Scalkwyk  (Retired - March 2016)

 Reception   Ida Maphumulo
 Transport    Yusef Alexander

MUSEUM CARETAKERS/ASSISTANTS
 
 Magersfontein   Esau Richards; Evelyn van Schalkwyk, Richard Richards - (Retired - November 2015)
     Chrissie van Schalkwyk*
 Sanatorium   Bafana Ndebele 
 Chapel street   Frank Lunt* 
 Aviation    Museum closed - open on request
 Relief    Frank Higgo
 Duggan-Cronin Gallery   Museum closed - open on request
 Dunluce House   Museum closed - open on request
 Rudd House   Museum closed - open on request
 Wildebeest Kuil   Petrus Wilson*, Amos Makau*
 Wonderwerk Cave  Jonny Esau*; Iris Khabae*
 Cleaners   Elizabeth Moshounyane; Jennifer Buffel; Charlene Coetzee*
 EPWP Cleaners   Wilhemina Mangope; Jenny Kammies;  Ellise Booysen; Portia Gema

NATURAL & HUMAN SCIENCES
Research & Curatorial  
 
 Archaeology   David Morris PhD
 Botany    Vacant
 History    Vida Allen B Bibl; MA
 Conflict    Sunet Swanepoel B Bibl; MA
 Living History   Sephai Mngqolo Museum & Heritage Dip
 Social Anthropology  Vacant 
 Zoology    Beryl Wilson ND; B Tech; BA (Hons)

Collection Management
 Archaeology   Vincent Dinku; Jane Joubert*; Chantel Wilson*; Melony Jafta*; Koot Msawula*; 
     Abenicia Henderson
 Botany    Annemarie van Heerden ND Nat Cons 
 Cultural History   Dominique McAnda; Lenah Nkwane; Jenny Gibbs
 Conservator   Yvonne Kok
 Taxidermy   Jack Oliphant
 Photography   Robert Hart BA (Hons); Anna du Plessis BA (Hons)*) (Resigned July 2015)
 African Material Culture  

LIBRARY    Vacant
EDUCATION
 Education Officer   Suzanne Erasmus BSc (Hons) STD

DESIGN & DISPLAY
 Artists    Marie Lodewyk
     Portia Genge
     Kgomotso Setshogela (October 2015)
GARDENS
 Supervisor   
 Gardeners   Jackson van Schalkwyk; Gert van Schalkwyk*; Andries Mathebula*; Jurie Blom*;
      Moses van Schalkwyk* Cecil Mbanga (EPWP)
WORKSHOP
 Supervisor   Vacant 
 Artisan    Joseph Ditlhobolo 
 Foreman   Thys Moncho   
 Tradesman Aid   Abel van Schalkwyk

*BOARD EMPLOYEES UNTIL OCTOBER 2015

Phillip Hine & Craig McClenaghan inspect 
construction progress
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Prof DAVID MORRIS, Head of Archaeology, dmorris@museumsnc.co.za
VINCENT DINKU, Collection Manager
KOOT MSAWULA, MOLONY JAFTA, CHANTEL WILSON, JANE JOUBERT, Collection & Field Assistants
ABENICIA HENDERSON, on secondment from the Heritage Unit
PETRUS WILSON & AMOS MAKAU, Wildebeest Kuil 
KENYADITSWE IRIS KHABAE & JOHNNY ESAU, Wonderwerk Cave

ARCHAEOLOGY

Museums for a sustainable society: this was the theme for 
International Museum Day in 2015. When Prof Dr Hans Martin 
Hinz, President of the International Council of Museums (ICOM), 
introduced the theme, he urged: “Museums must be able to 
guarantee their role in safeguarding cultural heritage.” He added, 
“We must do everything we can to ensure that museums are part 
of the cultural driving force for the sustainable development of 
the world.”

The full extent to which the McGregor Museum would be called 
upon to fulfil this role would become apparent in the closing 
weeks of the year under review when we worked around the 
clock obtaining an urgent interdict to halt destruction by mining 
of an archaeological site of world importance outside Barkly 
West. Canteen Kopje shot to media prominence in a matter of 
days locally and nationally, and in heritage circles from America 
and Europe to China. Already at the end of 2014 pressure was 
mounting for mining to take place there, though the heritage 
authorities successfully prevented it. But by mid-March 2016 
authorisation somehow was granted and a day and a half of 
mining ripped a hole some 35 x 25m in size and up to a few 
metres depth in the middle of the declared heritage site. When 
initial efforts through regular channels failed to halt the mining no 
option was left to the Museum but to open a case and obtain the 
urgent interdict which was allowed in the Kimberley High Court in 
the middle of a Saturday afternoon over the Human Rights Day 
long weekend. George Leader, one of the principal researchers 
at the site, remarked on the power of the first 72 hours of social 
media activism – initiated by the Museum – which raised an 
outcry internationally. Ms Lara Granville and colleagues of the 
law firm Norton Rose Fulbright acted for the Museum on a pro 
bono basis. The court order of 19 March was made final a month 
later. 

The archaeological importance of Canteen Kopje was recognised 
in a preliminary way from the later 1920s but it was not before 
the first systematic excavations, in 1998, by Peter Beaumont of 
the McGregor Museum, that its more specific significance began 
to be recognised. The site has a phenomenally deep and rich 
sequence from the Earlier Stone Age, overlain by more recent 
Middle and Later Stone Age phases, and including evidence 
of circa 300-500 thousand year old pigment use. Beaumont’s 

revelations led to further work by international teams from Wits 
University and Toronto University. After McGregor Museum 
archaeology discovered pottery and preserved animal bone in 
the uppermost unit at the site in 2015, the museum and Toronto 
University helped to run an excavation field school for Kimberley’s 
new Sol Plaatje University, further to investigate this finding. 

The various research links created by this work proved to be 
critical in mobilising a rapid response when illegal mining became 
imminent on 16 March and was begun two days later. Research 
associate Prof Michael Chazan of Toronto set up a website 
within hours, while Sol Plaatje University and Wits University 
joined with the McGregor in a further application lodged with the 
Pretoria High Court requesting a review of the Mineral Resources 
Department’s decisions that permitted mining on the heritage site 
in the first instance.

In another significant context this year the Museum fulfilled again 
its role in “safeguarding cultural heritage” and being “part of the 
cultural driving force for sustainable development”. This was at 
Wonderwerk Cave. Years of planning came to fruition in 2015-16, 
with the final building of the R3 million walkway which has been 
on the drawing board, one way or another, since 2008. We were 
part of a SAHRA-appointed monitoring committee which met with 
prospective contractors in 2015, served on the bid adjudication 
committee, inspected an off-site mock-up of project components, 
and finally oversaw the actual construction which began on 11 
January 2016. Prof Michael Chazan was flown out from Canada 
to be part of team discussions on the project in February. The 
result is a walkway, now installed, to the furthest reaches of the 
cave interior. In terms of conservation issues it is completely 
reversible, having minimal physical impact on the site. Architect 
Craig McClenaghan has been on this project with SAHRA and 
the Museum since 2011. 

The next phase of work for Wonderwerk will be a remake of the 
displays. A 2015 drama performance at the cave by the PAST 
education-through-physical-theatre group called “Walking Tall” 
was an inspiration towards future public programmes for this and 
other sites – and it is hoped to involve this group in the official re-
opening of Wonderwerk Cave which is to follow the completion of 
the walkway project.

Phillip Hine & Craig McClenaghan inspect 
construction progress

Walking Tall theatre performance, 
Wonderwerk Cave

Sol Plaatje University students receive survey training,
Canteen Kopje
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The Wildebeest Kuil Rock Art Centre has demanded maintenance 
aspects of the sustainability equation with issues around our 
pump and borehole, and repairs to a roof that was swept off and 
dumped partly on the far side of the R31 road in a freak dust 
storm in January. In terms of site presentation, plans at the end 
of the year looked to the organization of a ‘Time Travel’ event 
there following the successful demonstration at the Museum in 
November of this form of educational programme by the Swedish-
led organization called Bridging Ages. This may become a 
regular feature at Wildebeest Kuil, and a novel pedagogical way 
for engaging learners around the relevance of the past in the 
present and for the future.  

Our role in education has been prominent this year with 
substantial involvement of archaeology and the Museum 
generally in the Heritage programme at Sol Plaatje University. 
The university inaugurated a one-year Heritage Certificate 
course in 2015 and a BA with Heritage as major in 2016. David 
Morris was honoured with an appointment as Extraordinary 
Professor in the heritage programme and has contributed by way 
of regular lectures and excursions to sites for both the Certificate 
and BA courses, working closely with Dr Jesmael Mataga and 
Mr Garth Benneyworth. Current museum work has dove-tailed 
with, or been ideal for incorporation into, these teaching contexts 
– for instance Canteen Kopje as case study on heritage law 
compliance and ethics; and issues of repatriation, using Northern 
Cape examples and the case of Australian remains here that are 
to be returned to that continent. During the year David Morris was 
involved in a Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) workshop 
on national policy for repatriation. We were contributors to two 
further DAC workshops: one on transformation of the heritage 
landscape, precipitated by the Rhodes Must Fall events; another 
around the revision of the Arts and Culture White Paper. David 
Morris was also appointed in 2015 by the Minister of Arts and 
Culture as a Member of the Council of the National Museum.

Archaeology collaborated and/or supported continued research 
revolving around the sites of Kathu and Wonderwerk Cave (a 
major milestone this year was an issue of the international journal 
African Archaeological Review being devoted in its entirety to 
papers on Wonderwerk Cave: a further set of papers is to appear 
in the next issue). In September David Morris travelled to a rock 
art conference in Alta, Norway, to present a paper on research 
in the Northern Cape. Papers/chapters published or in press are 
listed elsewhere in this report.  

Outreach programmes have included special excursions for 
interest groups: a weekend tour to local sites for the South 
African Archaeological Society Trans-Vaal Branch, and visits 
to Driekopseiland for a group of writers from the United States, 
for the Council of Sol Plaatje University, and for Judges of the 
Kimberley High Court. Presentations were given to the Historical 
Society and Rotary, while heritage training was prepared for staff 
of Black Rock Mine at Hotazel, and a job shadowing experience 
was afforded to a group of youngsters from Kimberley schools. 
The Museum was represented in exhibitions in Gauteng and 
Cape Town. Discussions have been under way for the loan of 
artefacts and rock art to major international exhibitions at the 
British Museum in London and the Rijks Museum in Amsterdam.

Vincent Dinku oversaw collections management with our team 
of assistants – who in the course of the year were appointed 
permanently. These appointments (two staff members each 
at Wildebeest Kuil and Wonderwerk Cave, and four at the 
Museum) constitute a major step in heritage sector job creation, 
long overdue. One of the collections management tasks has 
been an audit and re-boxing of the palaeontology collection. 
Another has been providing access to collections to a range of 
visiting researchers, including Michael Chazan (Toronto), Liora 
Kolska Horwitz (Jerusalem), Kathy Kuman, George Leader, 
Andrew Phaswana and Shadrack Molefe (Wits), Hao Li (China), 

students from Toronto, Jarod Hutson (Monrepos, Germany), 
Ilan Smeyatsky, Stacey Lander and Sechaba Maape (Wits), 
Hazel Botha & Retha Grundlingh (SA Inst Heritage Science and 
Conservation),  Fred Grine (Stony Brook), Shiona Moodley, Jens 
Kriek and Sharon Holt (National Museum),  Christine Paddon, 
Jesmael Mataga, Garth Benneyworth  & Nyebe Mohale (SPU), 
Jayne Wilkins and Robyn Pickering (UCT), Sam Challis, Mark 
McGranaghan & Andrew Skinner (Wits), Julilla Paul (Alberta), 
Philip Kiberd (Devon), Phillip Hine (SAHRA), Guillaume Porraz 
(France). Other visitors included journalists from South Africa 
and Norway. 

Cultural Resources Management surveys have been conducted 
at many locales across the province to mitigate development/
mining. Two of the publications in preparation include a co-
authored chapter with Prof Bruce Rubidge and environmental 
law expert Prof Jan Glazewski, and another co-authored with Dr 
Leanne Seeliger and Prof Mike de Jongh, on the potential impacts 
of fracking relative to the rich heritage resources of the Karoo – 
again very much in line with the 2015 theme for museums. 

Again this year we thank Maureen Klemp and Ludi von Bezing 
who have been putting in order the geology collections – an 
adjunct responsibility of the archaeology department. We are 
grateful to all who have assisted in the work of the archaeology 
department in 2015-16. 

Finally, we congratulate staff members Chantel and Petrus 
Wilson on the birth of their son Caleb, and Abenicia Henderson, 
who gave birth to her son Tylon.

Bridging Ages President Ebbe Westergren

Heritage Day story telling at WilderbeestKuil
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Heritage Day story telling at WilderbeestKuil

HERBARIUM
COLLECTION MANAGEMENT

“Herbaria, dried pressed plant specimens and their associated 
collections data are remarkable and irreplaceable sources of 
information about plants and the world they inhabit.” Funk, V. 
2004.

Collection management which includes preserving the past 
collections remained a high priority during the past year. “The 
KMG Herbarium holds valuable and irreplaceable collections of 
several famous botanists who were instrumental in describing 
and properly cataloguing and documenting the flora of South 
Africa.” Anderson, T.A. 2016. 

The physical verification of specimen numbers and their 
condition were completed for the following plant families: 
Cyperaceae, Solanaceae and Poaceae. This was additional 
to the specimens that were checked while adding their label 
data to the Brahms database. A total of 2977 specimens were 
verified during the past year.

Processing and specialized preparation of new specimens for 
the botanical collection: 117 gift specimens were mounted and 
incorporated into the herbarium. No new gift specimens were 
received from other herbaria. The absence of a herbarium 
curator and the continued financial constraints also contributed 
to the slowing growth of the number of new specimens added 
to the collection.

DATA CAPTURE

It is estimated the first entries to the old KMG accession 
registers were made around the 1950s. Computerised data 
capture in the KMG Herbarium started in 1998 and this year the 
last of the named specimens in the collection were added to the 
BRAHMS (Botanical Research and Herbarium Management 
System) database. The data of 24 238 specimens were 
captured during this 18 year period.

From April 2015 – March 2016, 117 new specimens and 728 
collection specimens were added to the database.

Data editing of specimen data that were transferred from the 
PRECIS to the BRAHMS database continued throughout the 
year. A total of 1926 data corrections were made this year.

Barcodes are widely used by herbaria. They provide a fast and 
efficient way of locating specimens in the database as well as 
clarity when referring to individual items. They also speed up 
the management of loans to other herbaria. The barcodes of 
18 type specimens were printed and added to the individual 
specimens during the past year.

OUTREACH AND ASSISTANCE TO CLIENTS

As part of our information and identification services 25 
queries and plant identifications were done for researchers, 
veterinary services, various government departments, farmers 
and members of the public.

Educational talks included the yearly botanical talk on the 
common plants of the Northern Cape given to a group of 
Voortrekkers on their annual camp at Barkly West. Students 
from the Sol Plaatje University visited the Botany Department 
in May 2015 for a behind the scenes tour of the KMG Herbarium 
as well as a Power Point presentation on Herbarium Essentials.

I was one of the judges at the Eskom Expo for young scientists 
that was held at St Patrick’s CBC from 31/07/2015 - 01/08/2015.

Visitors to the KMG Herbarium included J. Oppenheimer 
and Ashleigh Williamson. Ismail Ebrahim from SANBI Cape 
Town requested botanical information for proposed fracking 
areas. Researchers from the University of Cape Town (Bolus 
Herbarium) Dr. Cornelia Klak and Prof. Pieter Bruyns visited 
the herbarium in January 2016.

Once again I would like to say a big thank you to everyone 
who assisted the Botany department in so many ways during 
the past year.

“Our collections are a vital source of evidence that scientists, 
both locally and internationally, use to understand the world 
around us and drive solutions to basic human needs”. NRF 
Natural Science Collections Audit, 2011.

 

Botanical talk presented to the Voortrekkers 
at Bodemvas Barkly West.

Eskom Expo (Kimberley regional 2015) for 
young scientists.

KMG Herbarium accession registers.

BOTANIST, (POST VACANT)
ANNEMARIE van HEERDEN, Herbarium Collection Manager, kmgbot@museumsnc.co.za

BOTANY
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In October 2015 we welcomed our colleague Kgomotso 
Setshogela to the Display Section. We were able to complete 
many outstanding projects, including replacing and reconstructing 
the outdoor Malay Camp and Magersfontein panels/ signboards 
with the workshop team of Thys, Abel and Joseph, by the end of 
December 2015.

DISPLAYS

On 15 May 2015 we opened the Sport in the Struggle temporary 
display in the Ball Room. Material featuring the Northern Cape’s 
contribution to the struggle, was  included. We have subsequently 
supplied some of this content to another section of the DSAC.

We contributed the design and production of 8 screen displays 
for the 60 Years of the Freedom Charter which Sephai Mnqolo 
authored and presented at the 30 June 2015 celebrations.

We produced material and installed a temporary Sister Henrietta 
Stockdale display at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery for the Northern 
Cape Nursing College in October 2015.

We installed the Land Dispossession display at the Duggan-
Cronin Gallery and had a well-attended opening on the evening 
of 17 March 2016. 

DESKTOP PUBLISHING

Portia produced another Annual Report for the period of 2014 to 
2015, printed and bound 70 copies for distribution.

Kgomotso produced a newly designed McGregor Museum and 
Satellites pamphlet for commercial printing.

We designed and printed posters for the following in October 
2015: Big Walk (DSAC); Zoology Conference presentation poster 
attended by Beryl Wilson; and produced copies of Dronfield 
typographical maps for Zoological research team.

We designed invitations for the following events: World War 
1 talk (14 July 2015); SASI storytelling evening at Wildebeest 
Kuil (September 2015); Dr Abel Pienaar’s African Medicinal 
Plants talk (29 May 2015); Cape Malay SA’s Forgotten People - 
Historical Society Talk (28/01/2016).

We designed the museum’s Christmas card for digital distribution 
in December 2015 as well as the design and printing of various 
posters and tickets for the Market @ the Museum (7 and 16 
November 2015); designed 3 advertisements in new Belgravia 
Walk booklet for McGregor Museum; Historical Society of the 
Northern Cape/ Kimberley and Wildebeest Kuil during September 
2015.

In the period under review, we designed and printed various 
signs to accommodate changes in opening and closing times for 
the museums, 50 birthday cards, 6 farewell cards; a unique and 
original Heritage Day map of McGregor Museum staff’s “origins” 
during Heritage Month 2015, Museum’s Financial Report cover 
2014-15; business cards ; DVD copies of Wildebeest Kuil videos 
for distribution/ sale.

MAINTENANCE

Repairs were done by Jack Oliphant to a damaged pangolin in 
the Enviro Zone’s Night Scene display (25 August 2015).

Maintenance was done on the Convent Display, with the Cultural 
History Collection Manager and assistant, Dominique and Lenah 
in January 2016.

Other maintenance work included replacement of Schools and 
Churches backlit panel at the Chapel Street Museum. 

We are continuing work on the Frontier Gallery dioramas as well 
as statuettes in the Hall of Religions.

We rendered assistance to the DSAC with designs of their 
Newsletter (May 2015) and Annual Report 2014-15; Long Service 
Certificates (March 2016); Language Certificates (2015 &16).

We executed various requests from the local public and 
businesses for lamination and production of copies of slides and 
photographs. We assisted in production of printed matter for a 
Kimberley artist’s thesis.

Portia and Kgomotso participated in the Time Travel workshops 
in July 2015 and May 2016.

MARIE LODEWYK,  Artist, marie@museumsnc.co.za
PORTIA GENGE, DTP Operator, portia@museumsnc.co.za

KGOMOTSO SETSHOGELA, Artist, kgomotso@museumsnc.co.za

DESIGN & DISPLAY
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EDUCATIONAL SERVICES

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMMES

A total of 108 groups and 5 573 people were taken on guided tours 
of the museum complexes by staff of the Education Department.  
These numbers are similar to previous years.  Of special interest 
were the following: a lesson on the EnviroZone for the Maxima 
School for Autistic children (April), a special tour and lesson on 
heritage for the members of the Adamantia Landsdiens group 
(September), a lesson on ‘Our Wildlife’ for Stepping Stones 
Pre-Primary and a lesson on the Siege of Kimberley (SA War) 
and the Land Act for Grade 10 learners of Kimberley Girls 
High School (September).   A group of Grade 4 Voortrekkers 
was taken to Magersfontein in the September school holiday.

I am grateful to Bafana Ndebele and tourist guides, Pulane Setlhodi 
and  Thelma Gaborone, for their hard work with many of these school 
groups, as well as to Ida Maphumulo who helped in many ways.  
  
OUTREACH

We participated in a number of outreach programmes by taking 
groups on special tours of our museums, including learners of St 
Boniface High School who were undergoing training in the military 
environment by the Kimberley Regiment (April), members of 
GAASCA (April & November), students of the Cape Town School 
of Photography (June), the SAFY (Special Agents for Youth) 
and the Childline holiday programmes (July), participants of the 
SAEON Science Education Symposium (September), members 
of the NC Provincial Treasury Internal Audit Unit (September), 
members of the Afrikaanse Taalraad and SA Akademie 
(November) and the Lerato Place of Safety (December & 
March).  Media tours were hosted for the Sol Plaatje Municipality 
(May), the Northern Cape Tourism Authority (September) 
and the Frances Baard District Municipality (November).  
The participants (mainly business people) of the Chinese 
Friendship Week, organized by the Sol Plaatje Municipality, 
were taken on a special tour of the museum (September).

I was present at the national celebration of World Environment 
Day at the Mittah Seperepere Convention Centre (June) and 
the SAEON Science Education Symposium (September).  I 
participated in the Bridging Ages Time Travel training sessions 
held at the museum in July and November. I attended two 
meetings with Mr Benneyworth of the Sol Plaatje University 
and planned an educational programme for his students 
on museum education and exhibitions, but unfortunately 
their visit in October was cancelled due to university unrest.  

I am a member of the NC Environmental Education Forum and 
Chairperson of the Mokala National Park Forum, Keep Kimberley 
Clean (KKC) and WESSA Northern Cape.  Co-operation with 
these organizations enables me to better perform my work as 
environmental educator. I arranged a WESSA public meeting, 
attended by 37 people, in November.  Kerry Pernell spoke on 
the Wilderness Foundation Stewardship programme.  I chaired 
a Park Forum meeting on 26 January, finalized the editing 
of the Mokala National Park Information Guide in April and 
edited the new proofs in June.  A number of KKC meetings 
were attended, and I participated in the KKC and City library 
educational programme on tree planting and anti-litter on Arbor 
Day (1 September).  The KKC co-ordinator, Wendy Peine, 
resigned in March and the organization has closed down.

RESOURCE CENTRE

Some time was spent during quiet periods in keeping 
the Resource Centre up to date.  I am frequently asked 
for tourism-related information, and for information and 
pictures for school projects.  This year the topics ranged 
from the Anglo-Boer War to the flamingos of Kamfers Dam.    
Information and pictures were put together for a number of 
Kimberley Junior and Newton Primary Grade 4 learners for 
a Social Sciences project on local museums and monuments.

DISPLAYS & PUBLICATIONS

I assisted Vida Allen with editing and translating the text of 
the Carnarvon walking tour pamphlet and worked on the 
editing of the 2015 Annual report.  The Welcome to the 
McGregor Museum pamphlet was updated, and, working with 
P Genge, a new Welcome to Duggan-Cronin pamphlet was 
produced. The supply of the full-colour tourism pamphlet of 
the McGregor Museum and satellites was running low, so it 
was decided to reprint these.  The text was rewritten, new 
photographs were found and the pamphlet was redesigned 
by Kgomotso Setshogela and finally printed in February 2016.  

ADMINISTRATION

Administration work in the Education Department revolves largely 
around communications with schools.  Museum information letters 
were provided as required.  Faxes or e-mails were sent to schools 
and they were also phoned to confirm bookings.  Communications 
were a real challenge with our landlines being down for a long 
time.  Increased reliance is now placed on e-mails, Facebook 
and the Department of Education HRMS website.  I produced the 
required monthly, quarterly and annual reports for my department. 

I am responsible for the supervision and co-ordination of 
the front-of-house staff, B Ndebele and I Maphumulo.  This 
includes the administration of leave, sorting out a roster for 
week-end and relief duties, as well as the work assessment 
process. Due to staff shortages I also took on the supervision 
of the museum cleaning staff (Elizabeth Moshounyane, 
Jennifer Buffel and Charlene Coetzee) and EPWP employees 
(Wilhelmina Mangope, Jenny Kammies, Elize Booysen, Portia 
Gema and Susan John) from September 2015.  Job evaluations 
were done for B Ndebele (Museum Attendant) and my posts.    

I participated in a number of museum administrative processes, 
including risk management, asset management and drawing 
up of museum policies.  I also served on the panel to carry 
out shortlisting and interviews for the Assistant Manager post. 

I completed a First Aid course in April and renewed my registration 
as Provincial Tourist Guide.  

SUZANNE ERASMUS, Education Officer, se@museumsnc.co.za
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Learners of Little Professor Pre-School with their spring hats at the Kimberley City Library Arbor Day programme

S Erasmus taking visiting members of the Afrikaanse Taalraad and SA Akademie on a tour of the McGregor Museum.
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The past year was very busy as the Historian had to monitor and 
supervise the gardeners as the post of  Assistant Director for 
Corporate Services became vacant and remains unfilled. In the 
absence of a librarian, the Museum Historians, Ms Swanepoel 
and Mrs Allen, assisted museum staff and other researchers 
that needed to use the library. Topics ranged from books on 
the Anglo-Boer South African War; invertebrates, stories of the 
San and mining compounds. The work included checking the 
catalogue for specific books requested by staff and receiving 
and re-shelving books returned to the library.

Research was undertaken for the Carnarvon walking tour in 
collaboration with the Department of Tourism and Economic 
Affairs and local guesthouses in Carnarvon. Two trips to 
Carnarvon were undertaken where meetings  were held with 
stakeholders at Kareeberg Local Municipality, as well as a 
consultation meeting with the Carnarvon community re the 
walking tour of their town. The booklet is at the graphic designer.

Research was done to write biographies of recipients of 
illuminated addresses which are to be exhibited at the WHAG 
in the near future: Isabella and William Pescod, Maria Wilman, 
Richard Liversidge, Charles Warren, Wilfrid Gore Brown, CD 
Rudd, Sydney Harcourt Rees, Joshua Oates, George Garcia 
Wolfe and Gus Haberfeld.

A great deal of time was spent on research to answer the 75 
queries the archives received. These comprised many divergent 
topics ranging from genealogical queries, women in the Northern 
Cape in the fight for women’s rights in 20th century as well as 
histories of communities in the Northern Cape.

Many visitors and researchers (45) consulted the archival 
collection for their publications, land claims or documentary 
television programmes. 

Background research on Sol Plaatje was done to assist Mr Cronje, 
the Director of the Sol Plaatje Museum, with the writing of the 
labels for an exhibition on the Life of Sol Plaatje. Text for a poster 
with background information on Sister Henrietta Stockdale was 
written for a temporary exhibition at the Duggan Cronin gallery 
which was opened on the anniversary of her death on 6 October.
The Historian also assisted with the sourcing of photographs, 
editing and proofreading of panels of the Black Press display at 
Sol Plaatje Museum.

Other institutions which were helped included the following:  Maria 
Holtrop and Daniel Horst from the Ryksmuseum in Amsterdam 
visited the collections to ascertain whether our museum can 
assist with their exhibition on Dutch influence in South Africa in 
2017. Preparation of lecture and power point presentations on 
The Display Brief  and Principles of Accessioning for Heritage 
Studies students of Sol Plaatje University. The Historian also 
visited the Kgalagadi National Park from 18 Oct – 20 Oct re 
two museums they want to establish at Twee Riviere and Mata-
Mata in the Park. The Historian assisted Steve Mueller of Spike 
Productions with the historical facts and correct photographs for 
his CD and new booklet on the Belgravia Walk. The booklet The 
Belgravia Walk: yet another of Kimberley’s hidden gems and 
better kept secrets 2nd edition was published at the end of 2015.

Other co-operative activities included serving on the adjudicating 
panel for the Lilizela Tourism awards. The Historian spent time on 
the organisation and coordination of functions, talks and outings of 
the Historical Society, as well as the AGM and Richard Liversidge 
Memorial lecture at St Cyprian’s Cathedral in November. 

Guided tours of Rudd House, Dunluce and the Sanatorium were 
given to various groups such as learners, subject advisors, 
tourists, and the general public.

Various workshops were attended such as the POPI Act presented 
by the Archival Platform Dialogue at the Northern Cape Provincial 
Archives, workshop on Treasury Risk Management as well as a 
Mentor Training workshop. A Time Travel workshop presented by 
Bridging Ages International was held in July. Subsequently there 
was a practical Time Travel event held at Rudd House which was 
a real learning experience for the learners who attended and 
the teachers and museum staff. We are planning to have these 
events regularly in cooperation with the schools. 

Administrative duties of the History Department included the 
attending of many meetings, writing of reports, asset verification 
of items in the Library and office; Historian’s office; 3 document 
storerooms and researcher’s office.

Reviewing of annual performance plans and work plans, as well 
as filling in the quarterly assessment forms for the Department 
was done. Filing of correspondence, compiling of address lists 
for specific functions, co-ordinating the plans of the History Dept 
staff and preparing for strategic planning workshops were some 
of the other duties done regularly. 

Routine duties of this department included documentation and 
indexing. The storerooms were inspected regularly and general 
housekeeping principals put into practice. 

The Historian attended many functions, talks and exhibition 
openings during the year viz. opening of “Sport in the Struggle” 
temporary exhibition, 15 May; AGM of Friends of the Museum 
and talk by Maria Pienaar titled “Indigenous medicine, healing the 
mother continent” on 20 May; the launch of a booklet re the oral 
history of the school learners in Windsorton; Freedom Charter 
memorial lecture, 30 June; Memorial lecture on Sol Plaatje, 9 
July; Sister Henrietta Stockdale Commemoration Service and 
Memorial Lecture, 6 October; AGM and Richard Liversidge 
Memorial Lecture at St Cyprian’s Cathedral, 8 November.

HISTORY
VIDA ALLEN, Historian, vida@museumsnc.co.za

Mrs Mabel Blyth Rudd (Vida Allen) with her diamond magnate husband 
(Robert Hart) and their youngest child in the study at Rudd House during 

the Time Travel event
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The usual necessary housekeeping tasks such as cleaning 
and preserving documents and artefacts were carried out.  A 
wide range of enquiries were received. Much time was spent 
on re-wrapping extra-large files with acid-free wrapping 
paper a task that is on-going. Assistance was given to the 
Exhibition Department when necessary. The annual cleaning 
of the Bi-Plane at the Aviation Museum was done by 
Dominique McAnda, Yvonne Everson and Lenah Nkwane on 
22 September 2015. No entries were made in the accession 
register and on the database.

TALKS AND PRESENTATIONS

Talks on Basic handling and care of paper based collections 
were presented to University Students by Yvonne Everson – 
(15 May 2015 & 19 April 2016).

A Time Travel Workshop presented by Bridging Ages from 
the 4-6 November 2015 was attended by Ms Everson.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

First Aid Level 1 Course at Acacia Retirement Village 
Hadison Park (23-24 April 2015).

Training course in basic cleaning and handling of silverware 
was given to Ms Everson by Ms McAnda, (13 July 2015).

A metal hands-on workshop was presented by Mr T. 
Mangiagalli at the William Humphreys Art Gallery, (3-7 
August 2015).

Preserving and treatment of antique furniture workshop at 
the Africana Library was also presented by Mr T. Mangiagalli. 
(23-25 February 2016)

Thanks to staff at the McGregor Museum for making it one of 
the best museums in South Africa.

YVONNE KOK, Conservator, yvonne@museumsnc.co.za

CONSERVATOR

Preserving and treatment of Antique furniture workshop at the 
Africana Library.

Annual cleaning of the Bi-Plane at the Aviation 
Museum.
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COLLECTION MAINTENANCE 

New Accessions: 457
Newly indexed 23, 
New objects located/brought in: 486
Wood: 90
Cloth: 46
Boxes: 5
Leather: 2
Metal: 35
Glass: 6
Ceramic: 51
Mixed Media: 669
Objects reshelved: 942
Displays: 2

The routine tasks of daily administration and submissions of 
reports were completed.
The cleaning of the storerooms, working areas and Rudd House 
was done to a high standard by Mrs Nkwane. 
The repair work of various furniture pieces done by Mrs Gibbs is 
impeccable and should be commended.

OUTREACH, EDUCATION & DISPLAY 

Mrs Gibbs continues to assist with an outreach programme, 
which involves the Galeshewe Association for the Care of the 
Aged and Disabled (GAASCA) by collecting wood off cuts and 
material for the group to use in their arts and crafts. Mrs Gibbs 
is currently teaching the elderly how to sew together teddy bears 
from patterns. Ms McAnda assists in lecturing students from the 
Sol Plaatje University on the role of a curator and basic handling 
and cleaning of museum objects and collections.

Mrs Gibbs is always eager and willing to help in any way she can 
and this is a trait that is most welcome and highly appreciated. 

MUSEUM AND DISPLAY MAINTENANCE

Ms McAnda, Mrs Gibbs and Mrs Nkwane assisted with the set 
up and cleaning of a few displays and maintenance of exhibits.
Regular housekeeping of the storerooms and Rudd House is 
done by Mrs Nkwane.  

The success of this department is all thanks to the McGregor 
Museum staff for their continued support. Thank you and stay 
blessed.

CULTURAL HISTORY
JENNY GIBBS, Chief Auxiliary Services Officer
DOMINIQUE McANDA, Conservator: Cultural History, hist.cul@museumsnc.co.za
LENAH NKWANE, Household Aid

Exhibition maintenance: Aviation museum .

Ms McAnda handing over wheelchairs and walking frame recieved as a donation 
to Gaasca.

Donating books to 
Gaasca. 
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INFORMATION SERVICE
VISITORS

Twenty visitors to the collection were received including M. 
Ndebele who looked at Tswana images, and S. Muella who used 
photographs of Kimberley personalities and buildings for a dvd 
of the Belgravia Walk. Another person who utilised the collection 
was L. Arendse who found images of the Halfway House, several 
houses in Egerton Road and the fine dwelling Rosemount very 
useful.

INQUIRIES

Seventy-four requests for images were received.  These included 
L. Karlsson (Sweden)- Rudd House, B. Matlala- the Xhosa, S. 
Hauman- Kimberley City Hall, M. Holtrop (Netherlands)- Griquas, 
Basters and Boers, and P. Ivy (Canada)- Xhosa mother and child 
studies by Duggan-Cronin.

COLLECTIONS AND STOREROOM

One-hundred-and-seventeen entries were made in the 
accessions’ book and corresponding entries on the database. 
The items accessioned include a large number of mounted group 
photographs.The ongoing tasks of filing away photographs and 
cleaning storage cabinets and shelves were completed on a 
regular basis.

Anna Stewart nee du Plessis continued accessioning the Jean 
Morris collection, but also spent a large amount of time doing the 
layout for a panel display on land dispossession, amongst other 
things.  In August 2015 she left to take up a position at the William 
Humphreys Art Gallery, after four years working on contract at 
the Museum. We wish her all the best in her new job.

Miss C. Murray (volunteer) worked on the database of the Jean 
Morris collection.

PROOF-READING

A great deal of time was spent proof-reading various texts 
including: annual report 2014-15, Sister Henrietta Stockdale 
exhibition, biographies of Kimberley personalities and Sol Plaatje 
exhibition.

EXHIBITIONS

During the period under review two exhibitions were mounted at 
the Duggan-Cronin Gallery. On 6 October 2015 an exhibition to 
commemorate the life and works of Sister Henrietta Stockdale 
opened. To mark Human Rights Day 2016 an exhibition about the 
1913 Land Act, and highlighting the theme of land dispossession, 
was put up.  

EDUCATIONAL AND OUTREACH WORK

Visitors to the Duggan-Cronin Gallery were assisted as required. 
They numbered 950 and included tourists, and teachers and 
learners from a number of schools in the Northern Cape. 

HOUSE TOURS

Rudd House: A total of 67 visitors were shown over this building.
Dunluce: 41 Visitors 

Robert Hart attended a presentation by Bridging Ages on the time 
travel method of teaching history (1 July 2015) and participated 
in the time travel event at Rudd House on 5 November when he 
took the part of Henry Percy Rudd.

Heritage studies students of Sol Plaatje University were given a 
tour of the storage vault and assistance with inquiries- July 2015

HOUSEKEEPING

Mrs Jennifer Buffel kept the Gallery consisting of the display 
areas, offices and the visitors’ flat clean and tidy. 

ROBERT HART, Industrial Technician, photos@museumsnc.co.za

PHOTOGRAPHS

Visit of Dominique Edwards and students from Cape Town School of 
Photography, 26 June 2015

Robert Hart and Anna Stewart, the Museum’ s own 
in-house florists, with the arrangement for the Sport 

in the Struggle exhibition, 15 May 2015 
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LIVING HISTORY
SEPHAI MNGQOLO, History, sephai@museumsnc.co.za

RESEARCH

Commenced with the Kgosi Toto Research Project in which we 
are assisting in relocating the burial place of Kgosi Toto who 
fought in the 1897 Langeberg War. We visited Robben Island 
Museum, Cape Town and Botswana Archives to conduct archival 
research. Almost twenty interviews have been conducted so far 
with the Batlharo community. I also continue to work with Mr 
Don Majosi and Mr Vusi Tukakhomo conducting research on the 
history of African businesses in Galeshewe and Old Greenpoint 
during the apartheid era. 

OUTREACH AND EDUCATION

Served on the task team that organised the return and reburial 
of the remains of Umkhonto we Sizwe combatant, Tebogo Leon 
Tume who in 1980 was  killed  during an ambush by the security 
forces in Soweto.  

With the Robben Island Museum Spring School Camp I organised 
for four leaners and one educator to participate in a week long 
camp on Robben Island. They are:  Thuto Mabilo from Kimberley 
Girls High, Kelebogile Stuurman, Thabiso Lebeko with educator 
Mr Kgomotso Bowane from Reakantswe Intermediate School 
in Windsorton and Tidimalo Wesi from Floors High School. This 
year I collaborated with the Galeshewe Memorial Project (GMP) 
with the aim of rewriting and initiating an awareness of our history 
among our communities The Department Sport, Arts and Culture 
in collaboration with GMP commemorated the 1952 Mayibuye 
Uprisings in Galeshewe.

Assisted the Jantjie Family with their cleansing ceremony that 
was held on the farm Luka in  Langeberg, Olifantshoek.

Gave a lecture to the Sol Plaatje University Heritage Students on 
the Mayibuye Uprising Precinct as well as conducting a museum 
tour for national journalists and local tour guides. Hosted Chatham 
University students and delivered a lecture on ‘Liberation Heroes 
and Heroines from the Northern Cape’,

I still continue to serve as an Executive Member of the Luka 
Jantjie Foundation. 

PUBLICITY

Gave an SABC-TV and Radio interview on the history of the 
Battle of Langeberg during the Heritage Celebrations event 
that was held in Kuruman and also an interview with SABC-TV 
Channel Africa on the exhibition Journey to Freedom.

Candle light ceremony remembering all those who have died during 
the apartheid era.

Premier Sylvia Lucas and MEC Lebogang Motlhaping unveiling the 
Leon Tume Complex.

Guard of honour by MK members at the reburial of Leon Tume.

Mma Kgosi Motshidisi Jantjie and members of the family during 
the cleansing ceremony at Luka farm, Langeberg.

General Siphiwe 
Nyanda delivering 

the Tume Memorial 
Lecture. 
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THYS MONCHO, Senior Foreman
ABEL van SCHALKWYK,  Tradesman’s Aid

JOSEPH DITLHOBOLO, Artisan

WORKSHOP

In this period the workshop was pleased to fill two posts 
namely Tradesman’s Aid and Artisan.  In May 2015 Mr A van 
Schalkwyk was appointed as Tradesman’s Aid and in July 2015 
Mr J Ditlhobolo was appointed as Artisan, both in the workshop 
working with Mr T Moncho.

MAINTENANCE

This period once again presented itself with an ongoing list of 
maintenance to be executed in collaboration with other sections 
of the museum as well as the satellites.

Wonderwerk Cave - The following maintenance was carried out 
at Wonderwerk Cave: Fixing of all the leaking pipes and toilets, 
painting of windows and door frames, changing of toilet signs, 
vanishing toilet doors, replacing one of the chalet doors and 
fixing the chair. The leaking roof of the toilets was sealed.

Magersfontein - Together with Portia Genge and Kgomotso 
Setshogela from the Design & Display section we took a trip 
to Magersfontein for the installation of the safety signboard at 
the lookout point and an updated guide of the map.  We were 
however unable to do part of the maintenance as the Museum 
didn’t have enough funds available, and we needed to consider 
cost containment.

Malay Camp - It came to our attention via the Design & Display 
section that one of the steel stands for Malay Camp was not 
there anymore so we had to weld and make up a new steel 
frame structure.  All 3 stands are located at different places. 
After installing the steel stand we painted all the structures and 
assisted the Display section to replace the boards on the stands.

Dunluce - We replaced a window in one of the bedrooms near 
the balcony, where a brick had been thrown through the window.  
We replaced old underground water pipes with new polycop 
piping and fittings. Four copper taps that had been stolen, 
were replaced with plastic taps to avoid the same incident from 

happening again.

Rudd House – Replaced a leaking pipe with polycop, cleaning of 
gutters that were blocked by leaves.

Duggan-Cronin – The workshop team assisted the Design & 
Display section with painting of the walls in preparation for the 
Henrietta Stockdale exhibition.  A pulpit and a glass cabinet 
were taken from Ms McAnda’s collection to be displayed in the 
exhibition.  The roof was sealed, gutters cleaned and broken 
downpipes repaired.  A broken panel from the devil’s fork fence 
was replaced.

MCGREGOR MUSEUM

Mr Ditlhobolo painted the reception area and the devil’s fork fence 
in the front of the museum which still needs to be completed. Mr 
Ditlhobolo and Mr van Schalkwyk scraped off the old paint of the 
outside wall of the Hall of Religions and prepared the wall for 
painting.

The balcony area near the boardroom was fixed by the workshop 
team. We also managed to fix an air-conditioning unit that was 
on the verge of falling down.  A window frame in the visitors’ flat 
had to be repaired together with the window as they were broken. 
In the Display section workroom the team replaced handles with 
ones with bigger latches, and repaired the geyser above the door.

EXHIBITIONS

The workshop team also assisted the Design & Display Section 
with putting together of the following Exhibitions: Sport in the 
Struggle temporary display in the Ball Room. Painting of walls in  
preparation for the temporary Sister Henrietta Stockdale display 
at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery in October 2015.  Assisted with the 
Land Dispossession display at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery.
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Departmental Staff

It is with satisfaction that despite still not having the essential 
services of a departmental collections manager and assistant 
to the zoologist (the post now vacant since 2008 and defunded 
in 2012), the collections are still in good order.  Fieldwork on 
the Black-footed Cat project continued with a field assistant 
alternating between the Kimberley and De Aar study areas.  

Magersfontein Battlefield Museum, the associated restaurant 
and guest house continue to be one of the Museum’s gems and 
are well attended to by the capable terrain and support staff. 
Unfortunately, Richard Richards retired at the end of November.  
With over 30 years of service, his presence will be missed and 
we hope he enjoys his well-deserved rest. 

Sadly, the loyal departmental mascot Luger, after working 
faithfully by my side for 12.5 years finally retired permanently 
(and legally for once) to chase rabbits.  His replacement is a 
beagle called Rosco who will be trained to assist with detecting 
concealed reptiles in smuggling operations.

Departmental Statistics

Departmental enquires and visitors:  38 public enquires and 30 
scientific requests were recorded, 18 official visitors.

Field work:  CAR counts (4 days); Secretarybird project (10 
days); BFC Project (16 days), White-backed Vulture Project (12 
days), EIA and surveys (4 days); ACSA Birding Big Day (1 day), 
Tortoise Project (3 days).

Conferences, Lectures and Public Talks: South African Wildlife 
Management Association Conference, Kimberley (co-organiser; 
1 presentation and 1 co-presentation, 1 session chair); 6th 
Diamond Route Conference, Johannesburg (1 poster and 
1 oral presentation), 12th Kimberley Biodiversity Research 
Symposium (co-hosted + 1 presentation), Mokala National Park 
Birding weekend (guest co-host); BirdLifeSA FS, Bloemfontein (1 
presentation).

Workshops: National Natural History Collections Facility 
Workshop (SANBI, Pretoria); Birds & Renewable Energy 
Forum Meeting (EWT, Modderfontein); EWT Road Collision 
Programme’s Green Mile Workshop (EWT, Modderfontein); EWT 
Wildlife Poisoning – Incident and Investigation Workshop (LOH, 
Kimberley – co-hosted).

Courses: MTech dissertation, TUT Environmental Impact 
Assessments:  Kameelboom CSP Solar Project, Marydale; Coza 
Iron Ore, Sishen.

Media Interviews:  Secretarybirds (Volksblad); Wildlife affected by 
drought (Volksblad); Tankwa Goats (1 Volksblad, 1 Noordkaap); 
Cobra bites (Volksblad, News24).

Temporary Displays: International Vulture Awareness Day 
(Benfontein).

Positions held: International Relations Committee (African 

representative) on the American Society of Mammalogists; 
Editor:  Griqua Gnus (WESSA: NC newsletter); NRF Designated 
Authority;  National Forum for the Law Enforcement of Heritage 
panel of experts for NC, NW and the FS; and Patron of the Cat 
Conservation Trust; Specialist Wildlife Consultant to Kimberley 
Airport Bird and Wildlife Committee; Specialist Consultant to 
DENC and National DEA Green Scorpions.

Departmental Activities

Following the resignation and retirement of colleagues in other 
provincial departments, it is a challenge that the zoology of nearly 
a third of South Africa which includes many rare and special 
endemics, now rests on the shoulders of a single provincial 
professional at the McGregor Museum.  Despite this, by 
focussing on specific projects, it was possible to still conclude a 
very productive year in terms of ongoing and completed projects, 
fund-raising and outreach.

A number of poster and oral presentations (listed elsewhere) 
were made on current and concluded projects.  Ongoing research 
during this period focussed mainly on three research projects:

1. Black-footed Cat Project: This project is part of a 
multidisciplinary effort with international researchers to study 
the distribution, ecology, health, and reproduction of this rare 
species over an extended period. The aims of the BFCWG 
are to conserve this rare cat species by furthering awareness 
and conducting multidisciplinary research on the species’ 
biology. The BFCWG owns a research vehicle (Toyota Hilux) 
for which the insurance, running and maintenance costs 
are administered by the McGregor Museum, Kimberley. 
The specialized equipment required for our research is 
also stored at the McGregor Museum. As the project has 
grown in scope and capacity, the burden of monitoring the 
nocturnal collared cats became too much and the help of 
a part-time field assistant became necessary. Monitoring is 
now taking place by Martina Küsters, a TUT MTech student, 
from Namibia. The BFCWG conducted its annual field work 
during October-November 2015.

During the course of the year, the global IUCN Red Data 
assessment was revised, and the species retains its 
conservation assessment as Vulnerable.  Work began on 
the national reassessment of the species with the view to 
uplift the national conservation status from Least Concern 
to Vulnerable. This was successfully achieved based on the 
MTech dissertation that I spent the first 4 months of 2015 
writing up on the geographical distribution and conservation 
status of the species. I was successful in obtaining the 
degree in March 2016 after a lengthy review process. 

2. White-backed Vulture Project:  This species is the most 
widespread and common vulture in Africa, but was uplisted in 
2012 by two conservation categories from Near Threatened 
to Endangered, and then again in November 2015 to Critically 
Endangered.  The species is undergoing a rapid decline in 
population numbers and faces threats similar to all the other 
African vultures. We have been monitoring the breeding and 
survival success of birds on Dronfield since 1992 with 2015 

ZOOLOGY
BERYL WILSON, Zoologist, berylwa@museumsnc.co.za
COLLECTION MANAGER, Vacant from 1 July 2008
JACK OLIPHANT, Preparator
RICHARD RICHARDS,  Groundsman, (Retired November 2015), ESAU RICHARDS, Magersfontein, (1 April 2015)
EVALIN van SCHALKWYK, General Aid, Magersfontein
MAUREEN KLEMP, Departmental Volunteer (ad-hoc)
MARTINA KÜSTERS, Black-footed Cat (BFC) Field Assistant
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being the 22nd year of the project.  The project has now 
grown to include Mokala National Park too, with the help of 
Ronelle Visage from the Endangered Wildlife Trust and the 
crew from the UK Hawk Conservancy Trust. 

Monitoring of post-fledging birds continues using the camera 
trap at the Dronfield Monitoring Site and is reliant on the 
generous donations of carcasses. The camera trapping 
methods that were pioneered by myself have now been 
written up as a journal paper that was published in Vulture 
News at the end of 2015.  ACSA sponsored a signboard 
warning visitors about the dangers to aircraft landing at the 
Kimberley Airport if the birds are disturbed whilst feeding.

3. Secretarybird Project:  This year was a busy one for the 
birds in this area. The species is undergoing a rapid decline 
in population numbers and faces threats and is now listed as 
Endangered. 

Of the two GSM cellular devices sponsored and fitted by 
the Endangered Wildlife Trust in January 2015, one has 
continued to work well. The bird from Rooifontein moved 
steadily northeastwards eventually settling between 
Kroonstad and Parys. Earlier this year, the bird returned to 
our area and is currently just west of Petrusberg, FS.  Sadly, 
Bix, the bird tagged on Alexandersfontein was recovered in 
September near Koster, NW dead after becoming entangled 
on a fence.

Two young birds rehabilitated by VulPro, Hartebeespoort 
Dam were sent to me for release, one near Jacobsdal and 
the other on Dronfield.

Environmental assessment projects conducted are a source of 
department income which funds various other sectional duties 
and expenditures such as conference attendances, equipment 
and resource literature. This past year only allowed time for a 
single field assessment to take place, the Kameelboom CSP 
Solar Project, near Marydale. A desktop revision of the Coza Iron 
Ore EIA was also undertaken.

A good deal of the last part of the year was spent on authoring 
and co-authoring, and in some cases reviewing a number of 
species reassessments for the revised The Red List of Mammals 
of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho due out later in 2016.

As official measurer for Rowland Ward and Safari Club 

International, USA, I am often requested to measure award-
qualifying trophies. For the more fun-at-heart, a geocache was 
placed in the museum gardens in 2009, and this cache has 
proved very popular with visitors.  For those interested, visit 
www.geocache.com and find this cache listed under the code 
GC1VPW2.  I also continue to collect roadkill data for the EWT’s 
Wildlife & Transport Programme.  

In the absence of zoological specialists at the provincial 
departments, I am called upon to comment on policies, and act 
as a Specialist Consultant to the Green Scorpions (enforcement 
unit of DENC) which results in some interesting experiences 
and specimen acquisitions, particularly in the herpetological 
department. I continue to consult regularly on poaching and 
smuggling cases.

Magersfontein Management

It is a pleasure to report on the management and activities of 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum terrain.  Whilst the ecological 
management falls under this department, I also report on and 
assess the staff.  Both aspects continue to flourish, with game 
numbers increasing and allowing for small annual culls of six 
blesbok, and the staff amply supplying effort and expertise to the 
facilities and the veld alike.  Grazing cattle from neighbouring 
properties assist in controlling the high fire fuel load, whilst bring 
in welcome financial dividends or other bartered services.

We annually host two sporting events. In August, we hosted the 
Magersfontein Cycle Race which saw entrants passing through 
the terrain. In December the Kimberley Harriers PG Glass 
Magersfontein held a road race that started and finished on the 
battlefield.

In February, we received a generous donation of 13 indigenous 
Tankwa Goats from Department of Agriculture.  Feral for about 
80-100 years in the mountains that now form part of Tankwa 
Karoo National Park, the goats have developed their own unique 
and highly varied coat colours and hair length. For management 
reasons a herd of 80 animals was removed from the park and 
taken to the agricultural research centre in Carnarvon. There 
they have flourished and on hearing that they were intending to 
implement population management strategies, I motivated for a 
small satellite herd to be placed on Magersfontein.  Our small 
herd is the first official off-site herd and at the time of writing this 
report, our staff report that most of the females appear pregnant.

Members of the 2015 BFCWG team with a 
captured and sedated black-footed cat

The Kimberley Dameskring visit to the Dron-
field Monitoring Site

The 2015-2016 travels of Squeak, the Secreta-
rybird fitted with GSM tracking device

Left & far left:
Just two of the Tankwa goats 
relocated to Magersfontein 
showing the highly varied 

colours and hair

Right:
Some of the Tankwa Goats 

being transported from 
Carnarvon to Magersfontein 

Battlefield
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Publications
SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS

MORRIS, D. 2015. Narrating Biesje Poort: negotiating absence of storyline, vagueness and multivocality in the representation of 
Southern Kalahari rock engravings. Chapter 11 in K. Tomaselli & M. Wessels (eds) 2015. San Representation: politics, practice and 
possibilities. Routledge.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Dispute Resolution – an archaeological perspective with case studies from the South African Stone Age and San 
ethnography. The Journal for Transdisciplinary Research in Southern Africa 10(4):120-132.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Foreword. In Lange, M.E. (ed). Water stories: original !Garib narrations about the Water Snake. Pretoria: UNISA 
Press.

MORRIS, D. (submitted 2015). An intimate cosmos. In Parkington, J., Deacon, J., Morris, D., Swartz, K., Adams, S., Abrahams, D., 
Renier, S., Priega, K., Rusch, N., Hall, S., de Parada-Samper, J.M., Christie, P., & Taylor, R. 2015. Karoo Cosmos: |xam ka-!xau and 
the |xam.

MORRIS, D. (in press 2016). The parietal art of Wonderwerk Cave revisited. Submitted to African Archaeological Review. 

MORRIS, D. (in press 2016). The vultures of Kalabasput: on the interpretation of a series of unusual Karoo rock engravings. Submitted 
to Journal of Arid Environments.

MORRIS, D., RUBIDGE, B. & GLAZEWSKI, J. (in press 2016). The internationally significant Karoo archaeology and palaeontology 
record: short-term threats and long-term responsibilities. Chapter 12 for the book Proposed hydraulic fracturing in the Karoo.

SLIWA, A., WILSON, B., KUSTERS, M., TOTDIFFE, A, LAWRENZ, A & MARAIS, S, A.  2016.  Report on surveying, catching and 
monitoring black-footed cats (Felis nigripes) on Benfontein Nature Reserve, Nuwejaarsfontein and Taaiboschpoort Farms in 2015 
[ONLINE].  Available from: www.wild-cat.org/nigripes/infos/Sliwa_al2016-Report-Felis-nigripes-Work-SA2015.pdf

WILSON, B. 2015. Avifaunal Specialist Study for the proposed Kameelboom CSP Solar Project near Marydale in the Northern Cape 
Province. An Environmental Impact Assessment Report. 

WILSON, B.2016. The Black-footed Cat (Felis nigripes): a review of the geographical distribution and conservation status. MTech 
Dissertation, Tshwane University of Technology, Pretoria.

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS (SELECTION)

MORRIS, D. 2015. Preliminary comment on an inspection of alleged grave disturbances at Erf 687 Barkly West & Comment on a 
further inspection of alleged grave disturbances at Erf 687 Barkly West. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Heritage Impact Assessment for proposed clearing of 70 ha diamondiferous material from the Buffalo Camp on 
the north eastern side of Kimberley, Northern Cape. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Comment on the Heritage Impact Assessment Report and Heritage Management Plan for the Taung Skull World 
Heritage Site. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Report on a Phase 1 Heritage Impact Assessment for an operational salt mine on Norokei No. 317, north of 
Upington, Northern Cape. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Report on a Phase 1 Heritage Impact Assessment for an operational salt mine on Groot Witpan 327, north of 
Upington, Northern Cape. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2016. Report on a Phase 1 Heritage Impact Assessment for an operational salt mine on Vrysoutpan (Kalahari-Wes 251), 
north of Upington, Northern Cape. Unpublished report.

MORRIS, D. 2016. Archaeology of Canteen Kopje and the Jacky Mary Wesi Mine. Unpublished report.

DALERUM, F., LE ROUX, A., DE VRIES, L. KAMLER, J., STUART, C., STUART, M., WILSON, B. & DO LINH SAN, E. In prep.  A 
Conservation Assessment of Bat-eared Fox (Otocyon megalotis). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and 
Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

DOWNS, C., PERRIN, M., MCDONOUGH, M., WILSON, B. & PALMER, P. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Brush-tailed 
Gerbil (Gerbilliscus vallinus). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, 
South Africa. 

PALMER, G., WILSON, B., AVENANT, N. & MACFADYEN, D. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Spectacled Dormouse 
(Graphiurus ocularis). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South 
Africa.
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PIENKE, D., WILSON, B. & ANDERSON, C.  In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Springhare (Pedetes capensis). In: The Red 
List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

SCHLITTER, D., TODD, S., WILSON, B., MCDONOUGH, M. & KERLEY, G. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Hairy-footed 
Gerbil (Gerbilliscus paeba). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, 
South Africa.

TAYLOR, P., MONADJEM, A., WILSON, B. & MACFADYEN, D.  In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Stone Dormouse (Graphiurus 
rupicola). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

WATERMAN, J., WILSON, B. & CHILD, M. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of South African Ground Squirrel (Xerus inauris). In: 
The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa. 

WILSON, B. 2015.  An introduction to camera trapping of wing-tagged vultures in southern Africa. Vulture News 69:3-22.

WILSON, B. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Gerbil Mouse (Malacothrix typica). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, 
Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

WILSON, B. & HARVEY, J. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Woosnam’s Broad-headed Mouse (Zelotomys woosnami). In: 
The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

WILSON, B. & SLIWA, A. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Black-footed Cat (Felis nigripes). In: The Red List of Mammals of 
South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

WILSON, B., TODD, S. & PALMER, P. In prep.  A Conservation Assessment of Cape Short-eared Gerbil (Desmodillus auricularis). In: 
The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa.

POPULAR ARTICLES

ALLEN, V. 2015. The Belgravia Walk: yet another of Kimberley’s hidden gems and better kept secrets. 2nd edition. Kimberley.

HART, R.G. 2015. Monuments and memorials. Now and Then- Historical Society Newsletter, vol. 23 no. 1.

HART, R.G. 2015. Locomotive Union of South Africa. Now and Then- Historical Society Newsletter, vol. 23 no. 2.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Address given at the annual Sister Henrietta Stockdale Commemoration, St Cyprian’s Cathedral, 6 October 2015. 
Professional Nursing Today 19(4):46.

MORRIS, D. & MSAWULA, K. 2015. Foreword in Fear and Loss: the Industrial Karoo. Catalogue for the exhibition curated by Katie 
Barnard du Toit. Bloemfontein: Oliewenhuis Art Museum/National Museum.

WILSON, B.  2015.  Tracking Kimberley’s Secretary bird chicks. The Eagle’s Eye Newsletter (April): 9-11.

CONFERENCES, WORKSHOPS, LECTURES, PRESENTED & ATTENDED

ALLEN, V. 2015. Financial   issues for Public Entity, 4 May. 

ALLEN, V. 2015. Archival Platform Dialogue (POPI  Act), at NC Provincial Archives, Tuesday, 23 June, 9:00-15:00.

ALLEN, V., HART, R., GENGE, P McANDA, D. 2015. Time Travel workshops, Wednesday, 1 July, 4-6 Nov.

ALLEN, V. 2015. Mentor Training workshop, 13-15 July. 

ALLEN, V. 2015. Treasury Risk Management workshop, August.

HART, R., McANDA, D.  2015. First Aid basics, 23-24 April 2015.

GIBBS, J., McANDA, D. 2015. Sol Plaatje University:  Demonstration of conservation cleaning methods and their applications, 28 
May 2015.

GIBBS, J., McANDA, D. 2015. Attended several workshops at the Africana Library hosted by Wood Conservator Mr Tizzie Mangiagalli.  
22-25 February 2016.

MORRIS, D. 2015. Rethinking variability in rock art in the Northern Cape, South Africa: empirical and theoretical considerations. 
Paper presented at the ACRA III Rock Art Conference, Alta, Norway, 15-18 September 2015.

MORRIS, D. 2015. A musical romance on the Diamond Fields: the story of Margie Hull and the Viennese bandsman Ferdinand Bilek. 
Lecture (with musical illustrations played by Matthew van Wyk) for Historical Society, 8 November 2015.

MORRIS, D. 2015-16. Series of lectures given at Sol Plaatje University.
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